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PREFACE.

2l ILLIAM HAMILTON MERRITT, the author of the follow-
(| ing “ Personal Narrative,” was born at Bedford in the State
of New York, on July 3d, 1793. He became a resident of
Upper Canada in 1796, and served through the war of 1812,
first as lieutenant and subsequently as captain in the Pro-
vincial Dragcons. In 1824 he succeeded in forming a com-
pany to construct the Welland Canal, of which he became agent and
manager. In 1832 he was elected to represent the County of Haldi-
mand in the Legislative Assembly of Upper Canada, for which he
continued to sit until the union of the two Provinces, when he was
elected for the north riding of the County of Lincoln. In 1848 he
became a member of the Baldwin-Lafontaine Administration as Presi-
dent of the Council, and in 1850 was appointed Commissioner of
Public Works, but resigned a few months later. He continued to
represent the same constituency in the Legislative Assembly until
1860, when he was elected to the Legislative Council for the Niagara
District. He died on July 5th, 1862, near Cornwall, while on his way
to the sea shore in the hope of restoring his health. -
The Personal Narrative, now printed verbatim for the first time,
was prepared by him while a prisoner of war in the United States.
It is written on foolscap paper and the pages were originally num-
bered from 1 to 25, but pages 17, 18, 19 and 20 have been lost.
E C.






PERSONAL NARRATIVE.

On the 27th June, 1812, a man arrived at Thos. Clark’s, Esqr.,
with the news of war being proclaimed by the Pres[iden]t of [the]
Ulnited] S[tates]. The news flew like lightning over the country.
The flank companies and other volunteer corps were immediately
ordered out. We had one Regt. of regulars, the 41st, in the Upper
Province, that is, above Kingston, say, York, Ft. George, Queenston,
Chippawa, Fort Erie, Amherstburg, Sandwich and St. Joseph. The
country was well-aware of the strength and population of the U. S.
and turned out with a desire and determination of doing their duty.
At the same time they were acting under the impression of being
eventually conquered. I heard [at] 12 o’clock P. M. on the night of
the 27th of the declaration of war, by Mr. Culp.

(I was then carrying on the farm with several hands, everything
[was] in great forwardness.) Not believing it, I mounted my horse
In the morning [and] had not rode further than Shipman’s when, to
my great surprise, I met the capt[ain]s of companies assembling their

- men ag fast as possible. What my feelings were at that time can-
not easily be described. I had been appointed Lieut. to a mfilitia]
troop of horse a few weeks prior, [and] was confident they would be

simmediately put on service. I had many powerful and weighty
reasons for not entering the ser[vice], tho’ not having heard from R.*
since their leaving the country, and fearing the worst, I scarcely

_ cared what became of me. In the course of the morning I received

“an order from my father, who was appointed Maj[or] com[mandin]g
the cavalry in the Upper Province, to assemble the men in my vicin-

- ity and march down to Ft. George as soon as possible. (The men I
had employed all belonged to the different volunteer comp[anie]s
which they joined. My mother was left alone on the farm. Seeing
so noble a spirit of resistance spreading among all classes, I deter-
mined to give up every other pursuit and devote wy life and time
solely to the service of my country. For many reasons, at that time
no person was more ready to risque it than myself.) On receiving
the news the men had all assembled by the next morning. Accord-
ingly we moved off and joined the main body at the Court House in
Niagara at 2 P. M, 28th inst. [We] kept patroles up and down the
river, momentarily expecting an attack, altho’ the Americans had not
heard of war being proclaimed till notified by us. Expresses having
been sent to him, Gen. Brock arrived this even[ing.] All hands were

*Miss Catharine R. Prendergast, afterwards Mrs. Merritt.
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busily employed in preparing for our defence. [On the] 29th I had
.~ the honor of being presented to him. The troop was under the com-
[man]d of Capt. Alex. Hamilton, my most intimate and particular
friend. They were coinposed of the choicest and best young men in
_the country. [On] the 30th I received an order to repair to Chippawa
with 20 men, and place myself under the command of Col. Clark, 2d
Linc[oln] Mil[itia]. At this time Capt. Geo. Hamilton was about
raising another troop of M[ilitia] Dragloons] at this place. Wm.
Merritt was to have been cornet of the 1st troop, Jno. Secord lieuten-
ant, and Pell Major, cornf[et] of the 2d do. I had the charge of the
volunteers at this post, all amounting to about 40 men. Our time
was constantly taken up in drilling, patroling and parading. As we
heard of the enemy’s collecting a large force opposite we expected an
attack nightly, especially on [the] 4th July. On the 3d I attained
my 19th year. I remained between this post and Fort Erie till the
20th, when I was relieved by Capt. Geo. Hamilton; some dispute
having arisen between him and Col. Clark in respect to the same, his
troop fell through. Most of the men were turned over to ours.
Major Merritt appointed John Pell Major cornet vice Wm. Merritt.
(I am sorry to say by which means the latter became a ruined man.*)
Capt. H[amilton] and myself quartered in my father’s house in
Niagara. On the 28th July I got leave to visit the 12 M[ile] Creek.
[I] had not arrived many hours when I was followed by my father
with 6 men, with orders to proceed to Delaware town on River
Thames without delay and endeavour to keep up the communication
with Amherstburg, as the exterminating Gen. Hull had taken posses-
sion of Sandwich [and] sent parties as far as the D[elaware] Town
with his proclamations. We were apprehensive Amh[herstburg]
would fall. Col. Procter, 41st, had gone up to command. I was
well pleased with the excursion, as I wished to see service, since I
had commenced—anything new is pleasing. My poor mother was
almost distracted at the idea of my going to so dangerous a place, or
rather where there was a probability of there being any fighting. I
immediately prepared for my departure and set off at 2 A. M., 29th
July, with six of the best men in the troop. On the 31st [we]arrived
at Oxford. Col. Bostwick was there with the militia, who had just
assembled. I heard of Mr. Watsont being at Del[aware] Town with
—ten or twelve men. I pushed on with a design of surprising him. A
few miles before I arrived at the place [I] fell in with Mr. Tiffany,
who apprised me of Watson being at Allen’s with a number of men
well armed, likewise that the country would all join him. I sent

*He joined the enemy in 1813 and fled to the United States.—Ed.
1Simon Z. Watson, a surveyor, who had joined the invaders.—Ed.
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back for Col. Bost{wick] to send on a few of his men. I took posses-
sion of a house about 6 miles from Allen’s. [We] called ourselves
Amerficans]. The people discovered their sentiments to us. I got a
dozen of them prisoners, [and] detained all but one till morning, when
Blostwick] arrived. We moved on [and] took 2 of the party. [We]
surrounded old Allen’s house but the traitor (Watson) had made his
escape. We took old Allen and the two prisoners with us and re-

_turned to Oxford. I left a serglean]t and 4 men there. [I] heard
of Maj. Chambers’s approach [and] met him at Burford. He desired
me to return to Ft. George with the prisoners and apply for more
cavalry to join him. On my return Gen. Brock had sailed for York.
I followed him in a boat and reported myself. He was very well
pleased with my proceedings [and] sent me back with the cornet and
28 men. I was too well satisfied with my command to be long
Jjoining Maj. Chamb[ers] He was at Oxford with 40 reg[ulars] and
100 m[ilitia]. I left Chippawa at 1 a. m. Tuesday, July 28, with 1
offficer] and 18 [men].

On the 8th August I was going with a party to Dellaware]
Town. [I] was countermanded and returned to Burford. [On] the
10th Aug. [I] heard of a party of the enemy’s horse being at Long
Point. [I] followed them with 20 of mine till we arrived at Dover
without hearing of them. Next day [we] proceeded nearly to Port
Talbot when we discovered they had not been down, [and] returned,
not a little chagrined.

Capt. G. Hamilton, Askin, Rolph, &c., were volunteers with
M[ajor] Chambers. On the 9th August the gallant and celebrated
Brock arrived with the flank companies of the York Militia, and
Capt. Hatt’s f[lank] c[ompany] from the Niag[ara| Dist|rict] He
addressed all the militia present [and| told them of his determination
of proceeding immediately to Amherstburg and driving the enemy
out of the country, requesting all willing to defend their country at
the risque of their lives to volunteer their services, which they all did
to a man. He selected 350 of the best men [and] sent the rest home,
as the boats would hold no more. I was sent by land to Dellaware]
Town to prevent any party penetrating by that direction. [I] went
by way of Port Talbot [and] was placed under Col. Talbot’s com-
[man]d. After remaining three days there [I] sent an express to
Clolonel] Tal[bot], requesting permission to proceed on as far as prac-
ticable towards Sandwich. Accordingly, on the 15th inst., I received
a discretional order to act as I thought proper, and moved on. Most
unfortunately, the day before I reached Sandwich Detroit was cap-
tured. I could hardly have met with a more serious disappointment ;
being the first that was sent on the expedition and having more
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fatigue and trouble than any other corps, and being deprived of the
glory in sharing in the capture was truly annoying to both the men
and myself. i

Gen. Brock arrived at Amherstburg on Friday, the 14th Aug.
Again addressed the men. [On the] 15th [he] moved up to Sandwich.
The enemy retired on his approach. [He] erected a couple of bat-
teries opposite Detroit fort and town, summoned Hull to surrender,
which he refused, opened the batteries in the afternoon. [They] had
little or no effect. On the 16th, Sunday, with that promptness so
very conspicuous in his character, [he] crossed the river with about
700 Indians under the celebrated Tecumthe, 350 regulars and about
430 militia. [His] whole force [was] 1480. [The] Indians were sent
in[to] the wood. [The] regfulars] and militia marched up the plain,
or rather road, till within 300 yards of the fort where they filed off to
the left in a deep ravine. At the same time our batteries were play-
ing away from the opposite shore with effect. The exterminating
General, thinking warm work was about commencing, thought proper
to surrender with 2500 men, &c., &c.

I arrived at Sandwich on the 17th. Gen. Brock had left it for
the Niagara Frontier. I crossed over and acted under the orders of
Col. Procter. [I] was busily engaged in collecting horses, &e., which
were concealed about the country. I wrote two letters to R. by Mr.
Williamns and another. [I] was detained at this place three weeks.
On 7th September left it for Fort George, where we arrived on the
15th. We were in momentary expectation of an attack from Gen.

Rennselaer, who had collected a large force opposite Queenston -and
Ft. Erie.

Our duty at this time was very severe. [We were] up all night
and slept in the day. Cornet Pell Major was stationed with a party
at Ft. Erie.  On the 9tk October the enemy succeeded in cutting out
two schooners near Ft. Erie, the Caledonia and Detroit. Cornet
Major volunteered to bring off the latter with a few men from under
the enemy’s shore, [but] was mortally wounded and several of his
men slightly, some severely. [He] was taken down to Chippawa. I

. went to see him on the 12th but a few minutes before I arrived he
made his exit. I returned to make arrangements for his interment
on the following day. Early in the morning Capt. H[amilton] and
myself, who slept in the same room, were alarmed by a gun. We
had just slipped on our jackets and swords when they were repeated,
and a sad scene ensued. Women and children [were] running in all
directions and soldiers [were] repairing to their posts. We ran to
our barracks and with much difficulty and danger succeeded in
getting out our horses, as the stables were in range of the American
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guns which were leveled at the court house. We received orders to
repair to Queenston as soon as possible, as the enemy had landed.
We galloped up as far as Durham’s where we met our troops that had
been driven from the field and the wounded coming out. Gen. Brock,
we heard, was killed a few moments before. In short, for young
soldiers we had the most dismal prospects before us that possibly can
be conceived. The enemy was magnified to 5000 men and con-
tinually crossing without our being able to annoy them. Our few
but gallant fellows that had been beaten back and dispersed over the
field were now collecting. The wounded [were] meeting us from the
field. Col. M¢Donald, Prov{incial] A. D. C. to the Gen[eral]* was
brought three miles by two soldiers, mortally wounded. A cir-
cumstance that damped our minds most was the loss of our gallant
and much lamented Brock. In him we lost a host. All ranks
and descriptions of people placed such implicit reliance on his skill,
bravery, and good judgment, that led by him they were confident of
success. To revenge his death they were determined to make an
effort. (The 49th Regt. had arrived while we were at Detroit.) Gen.
Sheift arriving from Ft. George at this moment took the command,
collected the flank companies of militia, a few of the 41st and the
remainder of the 49th companies who had been engaged in the morn-
ing. I wus sent on the right to prevent their coming down the
mountain undiscovered. Capt. Norton with 70 Indians was before
me. He crossed the fields, gained the mountain, drove in their flank-
ing parties and attacked their main body. [He] was repulsed with
some loss, as he had so few men. Gl[eneral] Sheif made an oblique
movement to the right, gained the mountain and advanced to Phelp’s
fields. We remained here an hour [waiting] for a detachment of the
41st from Chippawa. Col. Clark arriving with his men the attack
was made. I was previously sent to hurry on Capt. Bullock. They
cawe on double-quick, gained the field about five minutes after the
action commenced [and] pushed on. The enemy fled in a few minutes
“in the greatest disorder. We made 900 and odd prisoners. Capt.
Holeroft behaved with the greatest coolness [and] kept his 6 pounder
exposed to [the] fire of the enemy’s long guns during the action. Mr.
McKenney’s conduct was conspicuous for bravery during the day. It
“would be impossible to describe the feelings of our young soldiers at
this moment, having entered the action with the idea, if successful, of
two-thirds being killed or wounded, in 10 minutes to have all the
enemy in our possession with a loss of not more than 12 or 13 on our
side. It was a most fortunate circumstance for us [and] gave new

*Lieut.-Col. John Macdonnell, Attorney General of Upper Canada.
tMajor General Roger Hale Sheaffe. ~
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life to everything. Only the loss of our brave general. On the
night before Maj. Merritt and a number of officers were with him.
He expected an attack, was round himself giving orders for a strict
lookout, was very anxious for it to take place, as he had great con-
fidence in his new raised men. At 4 a.m. a dragoon arrived with the
intelligence of an attack having been made at Queenston. He
mounted and rode up without an attendant. The morning was break-
ing as he arrived. Perceiving our shells [were] not reaching the
enemy’s batteries he rode up [and] ordered more powder. The mortar
threw one or two with great effect. At that moment 500 of the
enemy appeared within 20 yards of the battery on the mountain in
his rear. He ordered the few artillerymen with him to retreat and
ran down the mountain exposed to a very heavy fire. Capt. Dennis,
49th, com[manding] the post with 2 flank companies 49th and part of
4 comp[anie]s militia, expecting an attack gave orders for the guard
to fire on the first boat that was launched. About  after 3 the
enemy launched a boat, the guard fired, the men repaired to their
posts and drove them back with immense slaughter [and] took 150
prisoners. About 500 had succeeded in landing above under cover of
the darkness and bank and gained the brow of the mountain. The
guard at that place had left it and joined their comrades under the
hill. They were not perceived till they were in the rear of Gen.
Brock’s battery. He rallied about 30 of the grenadiers [and] was
preparing to charge the 500 when he received a random shot through
the left breast. He fell in the act of cheering his men. His last
words were, Push on, my brave fellows. Col. McDonald, who was
near them, called on the men about him to revenge his death, which
they were well disposed to do. He succeeded with about 75 militia
and regulars in gaining the mountain on their left, exposed to a cross
fire all the time. They formed and advanced, drove the enemy to the
summit of the hill, when Capt. Williams, 49th, was badly wounded in
the head, Clolonel] McD[onald] had his horse shot and received a
mortal wound through his body. The loss of the two com[manding]
officers threw the men in[to] disorder. The enemy took courage
[and] advanced. Our men made a precipitate retreat down the
mountain and retired to Durham’s, where we met them.

Gen. Brock was taken to Niagara and interred with the greatest
solemnity. The enemy gave him a salute, which was highly honor-
able to them. We had drove them out of Ft. Niagara on the 13th,
but, as our plan of operations was acting on the defensive, we did not
take possession of it. They applied for an unlimited armistice, each
to give the other thirty hours’ notice when it was to be at an end.
This was the most ruinous policy that could be adopted for us. The
militia were kept out en masse doing nothing, consequently most of



11

them went home, as their property was suffering and [there was] no
appearance of their being wanted on the frontier. The same pre-
caution was taken by us as before. I was sent up to Turkey Point
and established a line of communication from there to Fort George
via Lake Erie.

On the 20th Oct. I received the long-looked for ‘etter which had
been in the post office between three and four months. My hopes and
spirits were not a little raised on the perusal.

" In the latter end [of] Nov[ember] we were notified at Ft Erie of
the armistice being at an end. All was bustle and confusion. The
militia [were] ordered out, a general alarm spread immediately.
(Not to appear so much alarmed as we really were, knowing the
immense force [that] would be opposed [to] us under the proclama-
tion [of] General Smith,*) a general commanding along the whole line,
was to commence as soon as the 30 hours expired. It continued-the
whole day between Fts. George and Niagara, with little effect on
either side except damaging a few houses in Niagara. (The Court
House had been burned on the 13th Oct.)

I was sent up to Detroit [on] the morn[ing] of the 25th Nov.
with dispatches, money, &c., &c., with a guard of four men. I arrived
there on the fourth day after leaving F't. George, crossed the ice on
the mouth of the River Thames on the 1st Dec. on my return, the
earliest ever known. Mr. A. Williams, having been detained at
Detroit, returned me the letter I gave him for R.

[I] arrived at Niagara on the 4th December. On the night of
the 28th Nov. the American’s effected a landing at Trout’s Ferryt
under Capt. King with infantry and sailors. [They] surprised our
guard, made most of them prisoners and succeeded in capturing our
batteries and dismounting all our guns. 'Early in the morning of the
29th we moved on from Ft. Erie and made prisoners about 39 men,
with Capt. King, who had not time to recross. In this rencounter we
lost a few men killed [and] 2 or 3 mil[itia] offficers] wounded. The
Norfolk militia behaved exceedingly well. Col. Bisshopp, who com-
manded the right, arriving from Chippawa formed the few men he
had with him at Frenchman’s Creek. The euemy made their
appearance in about 20 boats [and] advanced within half gun-shot.
We opened our fire, they wheeled about and returned with some loss.
On the 30th we expected an attack most certainly, as Gen. Smith had
sent over a flag desiring Col. Bisshopp to surrender Fort Erie. He
was given to understand it would be defended to the last. At 2 a. m.
1st Dec., Gen. Smith embarked his force, amounting to six thousand,

*Brigadier General Alexander Smyth.—ED.
tBetween Fort Erie and Frenchman’s Creek.—ED.
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with an intention of attacking. Col. Nichol, who happened to be
going the rounds, mistaking the hour, ordered the revelly* to be
sounded. Smith, thinking we were on the alert and prepared to re-
ceive him, disembarked his men, making no further attempt during
the campaign, altho’ the militia of the country were kept out and on
duty fully as severe as ever.

[In] the latter of December I was sent with a party to Ft. Erie
as we expected an attack by means of the ice, and to prevent deser-
tion, &c., &c., where I remained till the middle of February, during
which time I wrote R. by a Mr. Willson. [As there was] no appear-
ance of an attack on either side at this time, the militia [were] all

" sent home; the flank companies’ term of service expiring they were
dismissed and the most of Captain Hamilton’s dragoons. I was
recalled to Niagara.

Seeing nothing [was] likely to be done, I applied for leave and
went to Kingston on my private concerns. [I] returned about the
10th February, 1813, [and was] kept on duty till the 25th inst., when

* the troop was dismissed after a faithful and expensive service of 8
months. They embodied themselves purely out of patriotic motives,
found their own horses, clothing, appointments, &c., &c., only receiv-
ing their rations and 9d per diem. They were likewise on their first
formation the most respectable young men in the country. Many

Lafterwards got commissions in militia corps.

I omitted mentioning a brilliant affair at the right division, and
a most shameful and disastrous one on the lake. Hearing of Gen.
Winchester’s approach towards Detroit, Capt. Muir was sent out with
a body of Indians and regulars to make an attack upon Fort Wayne
up the Miami in the latter part of December. He approached within
a few miles of it when some scouts discovered Gen. Winchester’s
camp within a few miles of them. The force was too small to attack.
He therefore destroyed his ammunition and returned to Amherst-
burgh in three days which (sic) he was fifteen in advancing. Gen.
Winchester, taking courage at his retiring, moved on at the rapids. He
was met by a detachment of militia and Indians, who behaved in the
most gallant manner. On the 20th Gen. Harrison encamped at the
Rapids and Gen. W[inchester] advanced to the River Raisin and
stockaded himself on the bank in a good position. Brig'd Gen.
Procter advanced quietly with all the force he could collect and
attacked them at 3 a.m. on 22d January. They defended themselves
gallantly. We succeeded in taking the Gen[eral] and his army
prisoners. A great part were killed, 500 at least, about 600 taken
[and] sent down to Ft. George, where they were paroled and sent

*Reveille.
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home to their own country, as we had invariably sent home all the
militia that fell in our hands. In the latter end of November the
American navy, under the command of Commodore Chauncey, drove
our fleet into the harbor of Kingston, who a few months prior had
complete command of the lake, not apprehending an enemy in that
quarter. So ends the campaign of 1812, one of the most disastrous
ones to the American arms and a most vlorlou% one for the troops and
inhabitants in Upper Canada.

On the 25th Feb. I retired from the service, went home to the
12 Mile Creek [and] entered into business, not wishing or thinking of
--entering it again. My father and Capt. Hamilton both entered pro-
posals for raising a troop of Prov[incial] Dragoons to serve during
the war. The former was accepted of. However, he getting tired of
the exertion that attended it and private concerns calling him home,
declined persevering in it. I received a note from Lt. Col Harvey
requesting I would undertake if, likewise Major Glegg and others.
Thinking it probable we would have an active campaign the ensuing
season, I commenced recruiting the 11th March under every possible
disadvantage, as the men had to find horses for themselves. Lieut.
Ingersoll was appointed by my father, consequently I continued him
and appointed Mr. McKenney cornet, (this young man joined the
militia dragoons as a private. He was with me during the campaign.
“His zeal and courage was conspicuous on every occasion. He was
raised to the rank of quartermaster, no higher post being vacant)
who soon raised his quota. On the 25th we were all in orders,
fourteen days after I commenced. Our establishment was 42 rank
and] file, which was conceived to be sufficient, as appointments could
not be procured for them. They were all fine young men but badly
mounted and equipped in every respect. My time was taken up in
organizing them in the best manner I could. A line of communica-
tion was established to Fort Erie with them.

On the 20th April the campaign for 1813 opened with more
vigilance than ever. We were reinforced with some of the Glen-
garries, Newfoundland and King’s. [The] militia were again called
out. We were apprehensive of a serious attack from some quarters,
as we perceived the enemy were collecting a large force on the
Niagara Frontier and had a decided superiority on the lake. It was
impossible for the duty to be more severe than at this crisis or the
privations greater among all ranks. Both militia and regulars done
their duty with alacrity and good will.

On 27th April the enemy landed at York and captured it after
a most gallant resistance by the grenadier company of the King’s and
a few others. The former were nearly all killed or wounded. We
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had a ship on the stocks, which was destroyed, and a quantity of
stores. The magazine was blown up by us [and] killed a number of
their men.

We were uncertain as to the fate of the place until the evening
of the 29th, when I was sent to Burlington to bring down all the
boats in that quarter, which I accomplished in 16 hours, for which
service I received Brigd.-Gen. Vincent’s thanks. Since Sir R. Hale
Shief’s retreat from York he commanded the centre division of the
army. On the 2d May the enemy’s fleet appeared in sight. Alarm
guns were fired and every preparation made to give them a warm re-
ception, as we expected an immediate attack at Ft. George since they
[had] abandoned York. They anchored off the 4 Mile Creek [on the]
American side where their camp was formed. From this till the 27th
May every man was turned out at 2 o’clock [and] remained under
arms during the night. Some men were 12 nights running on
guard. A most laudable example was shewn them by the Gen[eral]
Staff and every officer, who equally shared their fatigues. Our small
force were formed in three divisions. Col. Myers com[mande]d the
left, composed of the Kings and 2 comp[anies] of militia to defend
the coast from Ft. George to 4 Mile Creek. Capt. Fowler act[ed] as
A.D. C. Col. Harvey [commanded] the right, consisting of 3 com-
planies] N[ew]f[ound]i[an]d and 41st, 3 Gleng{arry], 4 [of] 49th and
3 of militia, from Fort George to Queenston. The remainder of the
49th and militia composed the reserve under Gen. Vincent to act as
occasion might require in the rear of Ft. George. We had alarms
almost every night. Col. Hfarvey] and myself rode to within 2
miles of Queenston and back, nearly all night, and slept in the day.

On the 25th, they commenced cannonading Fort George, which
for want of ammunition we were unable to return. They burned all
the buildings in it. On the 27th at 4 a.m. they were discovered
approaching us under a thick heavy fog off the 4 Mile Creek [on the]
Amer[ican] side in a number of boats and scows in three brigades
covered by their shipping and Ft. Niagara. Our left division were
ordered back in a ravine, as the enemy completely enfiladed the plain
and shore with shot and shells from the fleet and fort.

I was sent up to order down part of Lt.-Col. Harvey’s divisiou
on the right. Asthe fog was so very heavy we could not discover their
movements on the opposite side; the Gen[eral] was apprehensive they
meditated an attack likewise on our right by which wmeans only the
grenfa]d[ier] comp[any] [of the] N[ew]f[ound]land [Regiment] was
brought into action of the right division; 3 comp[anies] Glengarry,
2 mil[itia], 1 of N[ew]f[ound]land, was posted in advance to oppose
the landing of the whole Amer[ican] army. At 9 they commenced
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landing at Crookston. The major part of our advance was killed.
They were supported by the King’s, who suffered nearly as much, as
the enemy had gained the bank on their approach. They were com-
pelled to fall back on the reserve, which were posted in Gordon’s
ravine. I was sent for the 49th, which were formed in the centre,
our whole force not exceeding eight hundred men. We remained
marching and countermarching, retreating and advaneing till the
enemy had advanced nearly within musket shot, when a retreat was
ordered. The 24 p[ounde]r battery was left by its officer after firing
one shot, by which means we were totally unable to annoy them. We
formed again at the barracks near the Council House when I was
sent up to order down the L[ighJt Comp[any] of the King’s which
we understood was at the 8 Mile Creek. 1 rode through the woods
round the Amer[ican] right flank [and] followed up the lake till 1
arrived at the 20 Mile Creek (was two hours on the road) where I
met Com[man]d[er] Barclay with his sailors and the King’s. We
hurried on to Shipman’s where I learned the army had retreated to
DeCoo’s. I took the party through the woods [and] arrived there at
9 o’clock. Next morning the militia were allowed to remain or follow
the army. This was a sad day for many besides myself. I went
home, prepared my kit and with a heavy heart bid adieu, as I
thought, to the place of my nativity for a long time. 1 was de-
termined to share the fate of the armiy, which retreated on to Bur-
lington with very little delay. I was ordered to remain at the Forty
till driven in by the enemy. They were slow in approaching. I re-
mained about the 12 till the 29th, when they advanced with most of
the army. [On] the 1st June I was driven back from the Forty to
Stoney Creek. The enemy advanced on the 6th, after many petty
skirmishes in which I lost 7 men, to Stoney Creek, where they en-
camped to the number of 3000 and about 1500 at Jones’s on the lake.
We were now driven to our last resources. We had retired from
Fort Erie on [the] 28th. Our only position was Burlington, which
they would have attacked next day. We had no works. Our
troops [were] much fatigued and dispirited. In the evening of the 6th
they had drove in our piquets, some distance from Stoney Creek. We
were all under arms in the night when the bold and daring design of
attacking their camp was carried in[to] execution. The 49th and
part of the King’s were ordered to march, amounting to 500 men.
The light companies of each composed the advance, all under the
com[man]d of Brigd.-General Vincent. [When] they arrived within
a mile of the enemy’s camp [they] halted and had the guns examined ;
none were allowed to be loaded. They moved on, surprised and made
prisoners their pickets. [They charged the front line of the enemy
500 in number double quick [and] routed them without the loss of a
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man on our side. The easy dispersion of these men threw ours in
confusion, which gave the main body time to form on our right.
They poured in a most destructive fire and commenced firing from
their artillery, which were posted on an eminence in our front. Col.
Plenderleath assembled about 30 men, made a most vigorous and sue-
cessful charge upon their guns and succeeded in capturing them and
making Genls. Chandler and Winder prisoners, which secured us the
vietory, as the enemy immediately retreated and left us in possession
of the field. ~We could not get off but two guns and limbers for
the want of horses; they were all killed. On appearance of day we
drew off all our troops fearing [that] when the enemy seen our
numbers they would renew the action. Col. Vincent having been
thrown off his horse, lost himself in the wood. 1 was sent back by
Col. Harvey to look for him over the field. He supposed he was
either killed or wounded. On my return to near Gage’s house I fell
upon an American sentry. He allowed me to approach him. With
my blue jacket [he] took me for one of his own officers. I made him
prisoner and discovered they had possession of the house with fifty
men. I moved off with the sentry and another prisoner, who made
his appearance, and brought them to the main body. The Americans
retreated this day as far as the Forty. We were on the point of
retreating when Gen. Vincent made his appearance.

On the Tth our fleet made its appearance. I was sent on [in] the
advance [and] arrived at the Forty a few minutes after the Amer[i-
can] rear guard left it. Major Dennis arrived shortly after. We
pursued them and made many prisoners. The militia assembled in
all quarters and added much to their annoyance.

On the 10th [we] pushed on our advanee under Colonel Bisshopp
to the 12 and 10 Mile Creeks. Lieut. Fitzgibbon had the command
of a party of 50 men on the advance. His principal post was De-
Coo’s house, Beaver Dams. Cornet McKenney was attached to him.
On the 20th Lt. Barnard, Fitzgibbon, Cummings, McKenney and
myself were sent to Tice Hone’s, nearly falling in with Col. Chapin’s
party. On the 24th Col. Barstlaer (Boerstler) was sent out with 600
men, 2 field pieces and Chapin’s party to engage Fitzgibbon and de-
stroy the house. They came through St. Davids [by] the mountain
road. He got information of it, sent to Col. Deharen (De Haren)
who was at Brown’s, 10 M[ile] Creek, with a party of regulars and
Indians, chiefly Cognawagas from Lower Canada, who came up a few
days before. He sent them up by the Doctor’s (Prendergast’s ?)
They placed themselves in Hover’s (Hoover’s) fields [and] waited till
the army had nearly passed, when they opened a sharp fire from be-
hind the fence and in the wood. It threw the enemy in confusion
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for the moment. They rallied and drove the Indians near a mile.
They ran back, got on the enemy’s left flank and drove them back in
turn with loss. The enemy formed in Miller’s fields. Fitzgibbon, at
this instant arriving, gained the wood exposed to a heavy fire of
grape and canister. He perceived the Indians [were] tired of the

(Pages 17, 18, 19 and 20 of the MS. are here missing.)

- : 5 ; took the other for Americans, exchanged several
and did not find out the mistake till we arrived at the Forty Mile
Creek. On our return we gave the necessary information, expecting
the army to advance to meet him. However, nothing transpired till
the 4th December. (Gen. McClure advanced as far as the 20 and
returned.) On the 5th Col. Murray was allowed to advance as far as
the 40, with orders not to proceed farther. On the 8th Capt. Martin
and myself was sent on to the 20 to secure some flour. Hearing my
father was allowed to return home I persuaded Capt. Martin to
advance as far as the 12, which he did, brought away my father [and]
returned to the 40 that night. [We] reported our proceedings to Col.
Murray. We made § doz[en] prisoners and killed one man. He was
not ‘well pleased with [our] stretching orders. However, [he]
advanced himself to the 20 [and] sent me to the 12 where I fell in
with a flag of truce. [I] detained it till I received an order for its
release. [I] collected about 40 militia as an advance guard. In the
night [I] was sent up to the Beaver Dams. Early in the evening [I]
discovered the town on fire. Col. Murray moved on to the 12. In
the evening [we] collected all the axes in the neighborhood with a
determination of storming Flor]t George. On our arrival they left
it. Our troops took up a position on the river. [We] took many
prisoners on the line, the movement was so sudden the renegades had
not time to make their escape. Gen. Vincent arrived on the 13th
with the remainder of the forces. We had been every night up
endeavoring to get down boats for crossing the river. Fort Niagara
was the great object. I was sent over with a flag to Lewiston to
endeavor to ascertain their force. Capt. Kerby was sent up to
Burlington to bring down the boats, which he did with the greatest
expedition. Gen. Drummond and staff arrived on the 17th. Part of
the boats was brought to Wilson’s. The troops were assembled there
every night for the purpose of crossing. On the 18th I was taken
very ill owing to the excessive fatigue we had all undergone for
eight nights previous, and was sent home by Gen. Vincent, where I
was confined for a fortnight.

On the evening of the 19th the troops were all privately
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embarked, surprised the fort and captured it with very little opposi-
tion [and] drove them from Lewiston and Schlosser. After delaying
till the 1st November (sic) our troops crossed at Black Rock. After
a sharp engagement with the militia, drove them and tock possession
of Buffalo. [We] burned every house we came across in retaliation
for the town of Niagara. Thus ended the campaign of 1813. In
our dash we recovered the whole country excepting Amherstburgh,
which was not worth keeping at present, and all owing to the ability
of Colonel Murray.

I omitted mentioning a few gallant attempts in the month of
July. Imprimais, Sir James Yeo formed the bold and daring design
of cutting out the enemy’s fleet at Sacketts Harbor. Hearing the
Pike was launched and fitted out, he took about 500 soldiers and
sailors [and] arrived near the harbor at 2 a.m. [He] had his boats
drawn up in the wood intending attacking the next night. In the
day [he] reconnoitred the situation of the fleet [and] came back in
high spirits. He was sure of capturing the whole, when he was in-
formed two ef his soldiers was missing. He immediately gave up
the design, disembarked ('sic) his men and returned to Kingston.

In the latter end of June Col. Clark crossed at Schlosser with 30
men, took as many prisoners, destroyed a quantity of stores and
brought away one or two pieces of cannon,

[In] the beginning of July Col. Bisshopp crossed at Black Rock,
burned the navy-yard [and] destroyed an immense quantity of publie
property. He was repeatedly urged to disembark (sic) and return,
[but] imagining himself too secure [he] remained till the enemy
collected a force. He was mortally wounded and lost a number of
men before they could disembark and get out of musket shot. His
loss was severely felt in the Upper Province. He was a good officer,
an excellent man and a real friend to the country.

The troops were all put in winter quarters [and] the greatest
activity prevailed in repairing the forts. I was fortunately stationed
at Shipman’s,12 Mile Creek, where I remained till the middle of May,
1814, when I was ordered to Fort George. We erected a new fort at

< Missasaugua Point, by that name, and one on Queenston Heights by
the name of Fort Drummond. The fleet had captured Oswego this

“month, took a quantity of provisions [and] threw in a good supply to
Fts. George and Niagara. Capt. Popham with a party of 200 seamen
went up Sandy Creek near Sackett’'s Harbor after some American
boats. They were all captured, and almost every boat belonging to
the fleet.

Knowing the large force that was collected at Buffalo was about
invading this poor unfortunate frontier again, the duty became very



19

severe. The enemy had landed at Dover, Long Point, under Col.
Camel (Campbell), burned every thing they fell in with and
disembarked. -

On the third of July (my birthday) they made a landing at Ft.
Erie, surrounded the place, which only consisted of 130 men, which
of course was obliged to surrender. On the 4th [they] pushed on to
Chippawa, skirmishing with our rear-guard, a few dragoons under
Cornet Horton. Our troops retired to their position at Chippawa.
A few Indians and militia arriving, Gen. Riall thought proper to
make a dash at them on the 5th.

I was sent down on the 4th to Ft. George. We expected their
fleet hourly to make its appearance and threaten the forts, by which
means Gen. Rfiall] was under the necessity of dividing his small
force. However, he marched out, gave them battle and was beaten.
Had the enemy done their duty our whole army must have been taken,
as they had five times our numbers. I was ordered up in the evening
and detained with part of the troop. Cornet McKenney was attached
to Col. Scott’s district at Burlington. On the 8th the enemy cut a
road, erected a battery and launched some boats, unperceived by our
pickets or patroles. Had they crossed it would have effectually cut
off our retreat. Gen. Riall left his position and retired to the forts,
burning Fort Drummond, &e. Capt. Hamilton and myself remained
behind watching the movements of the enemy till night. On the 9th
I was sent in the country to watch the movements of the enemy
with about 20 dragoons, in the neighborhood of 12 Mile Creek and
Beaver Dams, where I kept up the communication with Gen. Riall
and Burlington. The militia had all retired to Burlington, driving off
their cattle, &c. On the 16th I was sent to Burlington to order Col.
Scott down with nearly his whole force, 103d, Indians and wilitia.
On my return Gen. Riall moved out, formed a junction with him at
20 Mile Creek, pushed out pickets of militia to the Four Mile Creek
[at] St. Davids, by which means we kept the communication open
with Ft. George. The Glengarries arrived on the 18th. Our foree
under Gen. Riall consisted of 200 Royals, 150 Kings, 600 of 103d,
400 Glengarries, 350 incorp[orated] militia, 1000 sedentary militia and
Indians. In the three forts [were] about 600 men. On the 21st Gen.
Brown moved down and encamped near Ft. George. We proceeded
on [and] took possession of Queenston, making a few prisoners.
About 30 officers and men had volunteered under Capt. Fitzgibbon to
hover round the enemy’s camp and obtain information. Of these I
was one. We remained in Queenston all night. Three of us went
down to their out pickets at Camp’s farm [and] kept a good lookout.
Nine officers breakfasted at Smith’s in the morning. [We] was
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surprised by a party of dragoons. Most of us gained the mountain.
Four or five were made prisoners. Here we made a stand and kept
in check the 150 dragoons until their infantry had completely out-
flanked us. We fired fifty rounds per man. We returned to St.
Davids, where about 20 militia were keeping 150 them [in] check. We
ran down to support them. After firing a few rounds, as they did
not advance, we retired to the wood, where we received an order to
move back to the 10 Mile Creek. Four officers of our party remained
in the rear, were surrounded, and after a short but gallant resistance,
were made prisoners. [We] remained at the 10 that evening. Next
day, 24th, our number being reduced to eleven, [we] took an excursion
to Mr. Birch’s and Roreback’s. [We] fell in with a party of 30 horse-
men, gave them a volley, [and] they broke. We rushed on [and]
gave [them] another fire, when they disappeared, some up and the
others down to Queenston. We returned to Bessey’s. Next morning,
the 25th, I was under the necessity of returning to headquarters to
arrange some matters about the troop. My father was taken very
ill. Col. Drummond arrived in the afternoon. [We] heard of the
enemy retiring to Chippawa. [I] was ordered to Lundy’s Lane in
the evening with him. We marched all night [and] arrived there
at daylight.



Editor’s Note.

* Colonel William Claus was the eldest son of Colonel Daniel Claus

and grandson of Sir William Johnson. After serving for some time
as an officer in the 60th Regiment, or Royal Americans, he entered
~ the Indian Department as a lieutenant during the American Revolu-
tion. When Lieut.-Colonel John Butler died in 1796, he was strongly
recommended as his successor as superintendent at Niagara. He
became the senior deputy superintendent of that department upon
_ McKee's death in 1799. On nominating him for this post, in a
despatch to the Duke of Portland, Major-General Prescott wrote :

“ With respect to the vacancy occasioned by the death of Mr.
MecKee, I think it my duty to recommend to your Grace’s consideration
Captain Williain Claus, the present senior superintendent. KExclusive

— of any pretensions which he might be induced to entertain in his own
mind in consequence of the services of his grandfather, the late Sir
Wm. Johnson, of his father, the late Colonel Claus, who served thirty
odd years in the Military and Indian Departments, or of his own
services of twenty years, the circumstance of the Indians entertain-
ing a very high respect and veneration for the memory of his grand-
father and father, together with a great personal regard and attach-

~ment to himself, appears to me to be of very considerable weight.
His having likewise (in addition to his other qualifications) been born
and brought up, as it were, among the Indians, and possessing an
activity and disposition peculiarly pleasing to that sort of people will,
I have reason to believe, render his succession to the office of the late
Mr. McKee more satisfactory to all the Indian Nations and more bene-
ficial to His Majesty’s service (especially if the active services of the
Indians should become necessary) than that of any other person I
could recommend.”

vy He was subsequently appointed Colonel of the Militia of the
County of Lincoln and a member of the Legislative Council.

Matthew Elliott was engaged in trading with the Indians beyond

the Ohio at the beginning of the American Revolution. He aban-

doned the whole of his property, which was confiscated, and joined

Lieut. Governor Hamilton at Detroit, by whom he was appointed
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captain in the Indian Department. He accompanied Captain Bird in
his raid into Kentucky in 1780 and subsequently commanded a body
of Indians in the actions of Blue Licks and Sandusky in which the
frontiersmen of Kentucky and Pennsylvania were defeated with severe
loss. In 1790 he was appointed assistant agent for the western
Indians and was promoted to be Deputy Superintendent at Amherst-
burg in 1795. He was hastily dismissed from this office in 1798 in
consequence of a quarrel with Captain Maclean, the military com-
mandant, but was reinstated in 1808, when war seemed imminent
with the United States, at the urgent request of Lieut. Governor Gore,
who declared in his despatch to Sir James Craig on the subject, that
“throughout this country (Upper Canada) it is the general sentiment
that he is the only man capable of calling forth the energies of the
Indians.” He was one of the representatives of the County of Essex
in the Legislative Assembly of Upper Canada for nearly twenty
years, and Lieutenant Colonel of the First Regiment of Essex Militia.
His death in 1814 was probably hastened by fatigue and exposure
during the war.

John Norton was the son of a British officer by his warriage with
a Miss Anderson. He was born in Canada and at an early age went
to live among the Indians of the Six Nations at the Grand River, by
whom he was adopted and made a chief. He appears to have been
fairly well educated and is stated to have been able to speak Enghsh
and French with facility, as well as several Indian dialects.



AN AccouNT OF THE OPERATIONS OF THE
INDIAN CONTINGENT WITH OUR FORCES
oN THE NIBAGARA FRONTIER IN
1812-13.

BY COLONEL WILLIAM CLAUS.

YoRrk, 4th December, 1813.

My DEAR SIR,— It has been my wish for a length of time to sit
down and give you a detailed account of our transactions since the
18th October, 1812, as far as relates to Indian affairs, at which period
I consider the war to have commenced in this part of the country, and
much of that I must trust to memory but will answer for its
correctness.

On the 13th October, 1812, about 6 o’clock a. m. J. B. Rousseaux,
interpreter, knocked at my door and reported the enemy crossing at
Queenston in force. I immediately got up and on my way down to
my front gate I met Major General Sheaffe, who ordered me to the
garrison at Fort George, from whence I despatched every Indian I
could collect and a number of militia. Captain Norton had proceeded
before I saw him. About 8 o’clock a. m. I received orders from the late
Major General Brock, through Brigade Major Glegg, not to cease firing
until every stone was down in the American garrison. The events of
that day are well known to you, and the death of a man, Major
General Brock, that will ever be lamented. On this occasion we lost
two Cayuga Chiefs, one Onondaga warrior and two Oneidas killed
besides several wounded. ¢

From the 13th [October] until the 21st of November nothing was
done. By a letter from General Smyth to General Sheaffe the armistice
concluded on the 13th October was to cease on the 19th November.
On the 20th at night orders were given to open the batteries upon the
garrison at Fort Niagara at daylight of the 2Ist. The orders I
received were to station myself with the militia in a ravine near the
English church, where we remained until near sunset, when the firing
ceased. We had very few Indians at Fort George, most of them being
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at Fort Erie under Major Givins and Capts. Norton and Kerr, where,
on the 27th November, they assisted in repelling the second attempt
at invading the Province; altho’ a good deal of firing none of our
Indians were hurt. The attack was made immediately on a house
where a party of the 49th lay with Lieut. Lamont and my son of that
regiment and Lieut. King of the Royal Artillery, under the command
of the former. After a warm struggle they were obliged to give way,
being overpowered by numbers and Lieut. Lamont severely wounded,
Lieut. King mortally, and my son slightly in the face,and a number of
men killed, wounded and made prisoners. Reinforcements coming to
our assistance the American party were made prisoners with their
commandant, Capt. King, but our people had been sent across the
river before.

This ended the campaign.

On the 1st May, [1813,] a Militia General Order was issued
calling into actual service 1700 of the Militia; the following is an
extract :

“ 1st Lincoln, Colonel Claus, 300 including those embodied. Dis-
tribution — 1st Lincoln, Niagara.”
On the 8th May, 1813, I received the following letter :

“Fort George, 8th May, 1813.

SiR,— I am directed by Brigadier General Vincent, commanding
the troops on the frontier, to desire you will hold yourself in readi-
ness to assume the.command of the garrison at Fort George in the
event of the 49th, Lieut.-Colonel Plenderleath, being obliged to move
out for the purpose of opposing the attack which there is reason to
believe the enemy meditates upon this post.

“ The Brigadier General feels the most entire confidence in your
best exertions for the defence of this most important post with the
limited means which he may be enabled to place at your disposal, and
which, I am to assure you, will be as great as circumstances will
admit.

“You are to use your discretion in the supply of ammunition and
arms to such militiamen as may come in unprovided with them. Of
the former you are required to be assparing as possible.

“T have the honor to be, Sir,
Your most obedient humble servant,
J. HarvEy, Li.-Col.,
D. A.G.
“Colonel Claus, ete., ete.”

I introduce the above extract of an order and letter to show why
upon several occasions I was not with the Indians, as represented to
Sir George, and which I believe drew forth the order of the 7th
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August last. The order to remain in the garrison on the 13th October
was verbal and received in the field. After the above order of the 1st
of May it became my duty to be in the garrison of Fort George every
morning an hour before day with the militia. Nothing occurred until
the 24th May at night, when our guns up the river opened upon some
boats and scows the enemy were putting into the water at the Five
Mile Meadows. This night I wasin the garrison with all the militia
and about 12 o'clock I detached a part of them up the river to the
support of the guns, not knowing what the firing was. The regulars
left the fort and went out for the purpose of throwing up some breast-
works on the bank. A little before day they returned to their alarm
posts and the fire from the enemy opened from all their batteries upon
the garrison of Fort George. I had time to fire two rounds from a
24 pounder when I received orders to stop firing, but by the enemy it
was kept up till about 2 o’clock p. m., by which time they had set fire
to and burnt nearly every building in the fort. At this hour Lieut.-
Colonel Williams of the 49th was sent down to relieve me. We had
very few Indians at Niagara at this time.

During the remainder of the day we were busily employed in
repairing the picketing destroyed by the shells which were thrown in
great numbers and admirably served as well as their guns. On the
26th the enemy were observed to be unusually busy. On the 27th,
before day, I was on the Cavalier, or Brock’s Battery, with Lieut.-
Col. Plenderleath. Just as the day broke and reveille beat on both
sides, we left it fully persuaded that nothing would be attempted that
day. By the time we reached the centre of the square we observed a
rocket over our heads, and as it turned every battery opened upon us.
The troops, with the exception of one company of the 49th, Captain
Ormond, left the garrison. Our force was not 70 men including
militia. We were penned up in the fort without being allowed to fire
a shot. A little after day the enemy appeared in three divisions of
vessels and boats coming from Johnson’s Landing. They advanced in
very great order and unfortunately for us were allowed to come on
shore without being opposed by a 24 pounder which must, if fired,
have done immense execution and I am persuaded must have driven
the enemy back, but from something unaccountable not a shot was
fired from this gun. It was placed near Church’s old house. The
boats and scows were so close to each other and moved so slow that
every shot must have had effect, as they were very little more than
half [cannon] shot distance. At 11 o’clock a. m. I received orders to
open the mortar battery on the fort, which was done. Shortly after,
I saw our troops retiring and a large column of the enemy advancing
in rear of my house. I received a second order to turn my guns on
the town but had hardly done so when I received the following note :
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“12 o'elock.

DEar SiR,— The General desires that you will immediately
evacuate the fort and join him on the Queenston Road.

(Signed,) J. B. GLEGG, Lt.-Col.
Brigade Major.

“Col Claus,
Commanding Fort George.”

After seeing all the troops and militia out of the fort and blow-
ing up one or two small magazines, I followed and overtook the
General about half way to Queenston on a road near the skirt of the
wood. In the action of this day we had very few Indians in the
tield. Two Mohawks were killed and a number wounded. One of the
killed was a boy of mine. The poor fellow was too forward and lost
his life by a grape shot in the forehead. We continued our retreat
over the mountain and the Indians retired by a different route, under
Norton. I was despatched with orders to Colonel Bisshopp and did
not get back to the army until 10 o’clock that night. Our first halt
was at DeCou’s, about 15 miles from Niagara, (to which place my son
of the 49th had been sent a few days before the attack with a depot
of ammunition.) From thence we moved to the 40 Mile Creek, where
we remained some days. Here Mrs. Claus and my family joined
me. Why we left this position God knows! It was the best we
could take up, but we moved to the Heights of Burlington, to which
place the enemy were pursuing us in much superior force. On the
5th June in the afternoon information was brought that the enemy
had attacked our advance and that we had drove them. The whole of
the troops were ordered under arms. No Indians being with us I
offered my services to Brigadier General Vincent, which he was kind
enough to accept, and shortly after sent me to Lieut.-Col. Bisshopp.
On my way I met some Indians coming from Grand River and
hastened them on, but on my return found that they would not move
on that night.

When the two regiments, the King’s and 49th, moved off at half-
past 11 on the night of the 5th of June, I followed and after riding a
mile I found that the officer that was riding alongside the general,
had rode off. I rode up and took his place. After riding a little way
with him, I was again sent off to Lieut.-Col. Bisshopp with orders to
attach myself to him. I am perhaps too particular, but I wish toshow
to you the cruelty of the order of the 7th August, which I attribute
to Mr. Norton’s report that I was never out with the Indians, on which
report I believe that order is founded. The event of that morning’s
business is known to you and unnecessary for me to repeat it, but I
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must remark to you that in the general order Capt. Norton is com-
plimented for the handsome manner in which he followed up the
enemy with his warriors when not an Indian advanced until after our
troops came in and they only went to the field to plunder. About the
10th June our little army advanced. I was ordered to remain in
command of the Heights with a few troops and militia, which I
refused but afterwards accepted on condition that if they advanced
from the 40 Mile Creek I should be relieved. Shortly after, Major
Eveans of the King’s came up and relieved me and I immediately left
the Heights and joined the Indians. On my arrival at the 40 I joined
the Canada Indians there, who with ours advanced to thé 10 Mile
Creek near Niagara and encamped there with the light companies of
the King’s and 104th. We had not been there a day or two when a
report reached us that 150 horse were at De Cou’s in our rear, making
a tour by 12 Mile Creek as we supposed. The two companies were
immediately under arms and a message sent to me requiring about
50 Indians to join ‘each company. I ordered Capt. Kerr with the
104th and went myself with the King’s, going different routes in
hopes of cutting them off. About sunset a runner was sent to me to
say they had turned and taken a different route. Just as we got to
our camp we heard that the other party had met the enemy, but not
those reported in the morning, and engaged them on the mountain
near Mrs. Tice’s. After two rounds our people retired, the others
being too superior in numbers. Had the number of Indians gone with
Capt. Kerr that I wished and expected, it would have been a com-
plete business, but unluckily most of the Indians followed the Kings.
Only one of the enemy was killed, none of ours hurt.

- From the continual applications for flour for the families at home
I was obliged to retire from the 10 Mile Creek for the purpose of mak-
ing out the necessary returns and requisitions, for while I remained
with the body of Indians nothing could be done. (This I mention to

»show why I was not present on the 24th.) T therefore went to Capt.
Kerr at the 20 Mile Creek on the 22d June. On the 24th, a little be-
fore daylight, one of the Canada Indians went down to St. David’s to
look for one of their people that had been missing the day before. On
his getting there he saw a large body of the enemy advancing towards
De Cou’s on the mountain and in our rear. He returned immediately
and reported to Capt. Kerr, who collected all the Indians he could, not
400. After having reported the circumstance to Major De Haren, he
set out in pursuit of them. The same young man went in advance
and crossed the same body and returned to Capt. Kerr and the In-
_dians, who left the road and struck across the country and getting
into a wood opened a fire upon the enemy, who soon formed and with
two fieldpieces, 6 and 12 pounders, obliged our people to retire, but
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only to take up another position, which they did and kept up such a
warm fire that they were obliged to retire after offering two flags, but
whether the Indians understood them or not is not known but they
were fired on each time. This I learned from a man by the name of
Miller, to whose house they retired. When all firing had ceased Lieut.
FitzGibbon of the 49th made his appearance with about 40 men and a
flag was immediately sent. Seeing red coats, &c., the surrender fol-
lowed of Lieut.-Col. Boerstler and his forces with the two fieldpieces,
ammunition, ete., for which every notice was taken of the troops and
Lieut. FitzGibbon, and nothing said of the Indians who did everything.
Well might the general order say that the whole of the business was
accomplished without the loss of a drop of British blood, for not a
shot was fired by a British soldier that day. Five or six militia
officers and men went out with the Indians, who were the only whites
except those of the department, but it was not accomplished without
the death of one Delaware chief, one Chippewa chief from La Cloche,
two Caughnawaga war chiefs, one Nippissing war chief, one warrior
from St. Regis, besides a vast number wounded. As soon as the busi-
ness was reported to Lt.-Col. Bisshopp, who was stationed at the 20, he
advanced but we were too late. It was over before we reached the
field.

After this the Indians all retired to the 40. I could not stop
them. With much difficulty I persuaded the greater part of the
Canada Indians to advance again, and we got to the 12 where they
halted, and about the first of July we were joined by about 150
of the western Ottawas and Chippewas. I had tried for several days
to get our people to advance to the 10 again. Promise after promise
was made but I could not get them to go until I got the Western
Indians to move, when they could not avoid following, and we took

up our old ground at the 10. We had been there many days when I
received the following note :

“ HEADQUARTERS, 10 o’clock p. m., July 7th.

“DEAR SIR,—I have Major-General De Rottenburg’s directions to
direct you will move forward a body of Indians to-morrow morning
in the direction of Fort George. They must take post in front of
[Chorus’s] house, where some medicine belonging to the army was
deposited, which it is the object of this movement to secure. Capt.
Merritt will be sent from hence early to-morrow morning with wag-
gons in which to bring off these medicines. A company of the King’s
will escort them from hence. 1t is therefore necessary that the officer
who accompanies the Indians should point out the necessity of
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remaining in front of the house above named until the waggons have
returned. '
“I am, dear Sir,
“Your obedient servant.

“(Sgd.) J. HARVEY.
“ Col. Claus, D. S. G.”

This note was received about 12 at night, and I immediately went
to the camp and altho’ it was an unusual hour for Indians I must do
them the justice to say that they most readily turned out about 100
men, and I ordered Capt. Norton, with the Interpreters Liyons, Brisbois
and Langlade to accompany the Indians. They went off in the morn-
ing as desired. I told them if they were desirous to go on after the
waggons were safe they might, which they did, and I believe I reported
to you in my letter of the 11th July last. In this affair two Indians
and one interpreter were wounded. All credit [was] again given to
Norton, when Lyons, Brisbois and Langlade, interpreters, were the
men who encouraged the Indians. The lavished praise on Norton
caused jealousy. I did not mention to you an occurrence which
happened on that occasion. The Blackbird, an Ottawa chief, com-
plained that a person had been very troublesome to him, and insisted
upon getting his prisoners from him. He had presented them to me.
He only wanted to keep them one night, and gave me his word that
nothing should happen to them, but he was obliged to give them up.
This he mentioned to General De Rottenburg. The General asked
him who it was. He pointed to Colonel Young. When my back was
turned I was accused of setting the Indians up to this. An officer
was sent privately to the camp, privately to try and find out if I had.
I complained and demanded an enquiry, as the department had been
too often accused of these doings, but I could get no satisfaction.
Shortly after Captain Norton stated that I had given orders that no
interpreter should interpret for him. All his reports were, to use an
Indian expression, underground, and on his complaint it would be
enquired into, and that privately. Three interpreters that he named
were sent for without acquainting me, and at General De Rottenburg’s
two were sworn in the presence of Generals De Rottenburg and Vin-
cent, Lieut.-Col. Harvey and Major Glegg, the third being ill and could
not attend. After a very narrow investigation [they] could find
nothing out. Thus have I been treated through the machinations of
this man. I shall have occasion to speak of him again.

Previous to the 5th of July the Tuscaroras on the opposite side of
the river by Queenston appeared several days and conversed across the
river and expressed a wish to see our people. A day was fixed and
the following was the substance of the conversation :
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The Onondagas saluted the old Tuscarora chief and nine others
with him.

Katwerota, an Onondaga chief, spoke :—

“ We understand that it was your wish to see and speak with us.
We have now come to hear what you have to say.”

Te Karchaga, a Mohawk chief, said :—

“ Brothers! The Onondagas have spoken and told you we were
ready to hear what you have to say. The chiefs of 16 Nations are
here to listen.”

Osequirison, the Tuscarora chief, spoke :—

“Brothers! Our desire to see you is to know whether the same
sentiments of friendship exist that you expressed at the Standing
Stone (Brownstown) two years ago. Notwithstanding we are
separated by the contention between the British and Americans, our
sentiments are still the same.”

Katwerota spoke again :—

“ Brothers! You see, notwithstanding the report that the British
are weak, the Great Spirit is with us and we are able to take posses-
sion again. As the King has been obliged to give ground at Niagars,
we wish to understand from you whether you are induced to take part
with the Americans or not? We wish to know what you had to
communicate with us in particular?” _

Osequirison: “These times have been very hard and we labor
under great difficulties, being so near the lines, and we wish to know
whether your sentiments are still friendly towards us and if you cross
the river whether you will hurt us ?”

Katwerota: “This will depend on yourselves. If you take no
part with the Americans we shall meet you with the same friendship
as we ever did, and we look for the day when you shall see our forces
on your side of the water. We have no contention with you. It is
the King and the Americans, and we have taken part with the King.
We will contend for his rights.”

Te Karchaga: “ Brothers! We take leave of you. The head of
our army, and your friend, the head of our department, salute you.”

I am very confident it was fully expected that we were going
over and they were convinced there was nothing to prevent it. They
had not shown themselves nor given any assistance to the enemy, I
believe.  During this time, and indeed previously, I felt myself
unpleasantly situated.

The Government had an opinion of Norton. Everything was
done to bring him forward. Altho’ I observed the conduct of officers
in power towards me nothing was ever said until the beginning of
July. In consequence of a very unnecessary expenditure of provisions
and, as T considered, a very improper one, which was, issuing on any-
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one’s order, I issued an order that no requisitions were to be made
but by Major Givins and myself, dividing the Indians, giving Major
QGivins all the Northern and taking the Grand River and Western
Indians myself. This gave offence and after dinner one day with
General De Rottenburg he took me on one side and said that Norton
had been complaining that he could not give provisions to Indians as
I had stopped it. The order I gave was shewn to General De Rotten-
burg and I told him that he had approved of it but if it was his wish
that Capt. Norton should have the power of drawing I would readily
give up those I drew for, that my object was the interest of the service
and that T feltit iny duty to tell His Honour that the Government was
deceived in the high opinion it had of that man but that it was my
duty to obey the wish or direction of the Government, let the con-
sequence be what it would, and an order was issued that in the future
Capt. Norton would victual those ‘Indians, which he did. Both in
public and private did.the Indians speak of him in a most despicable
manner and all this. [was] attributed to me. With the army there
never was such a man.

After this when we took the advanced position at the Four Mile
Creek the Indians were to go to the roads in the Centre. While they
were getting their packs tied General De Rottenburg arrived in their
camp, about § a. m., and changed the plan. To try his strength he
(Norton) was to go to the left and Major Givins to the right, and
those Indians who chose to go with him would go to the left and those
that wished to go with Major Givins would go to the right, and I was
desired to let the Indians understand clearly that they were to do as
they pleased. Not one Indian went to the left,and I assure you,
upon my honor, I did all in my power to get 200 to go with him, but
no. This was my doing again. I felt myself so unpleasantly situated
that T could not help telling General Vincent, in the presence of Lieut.-
Col. Plenderleath and other officers, that it was my misfortune that
my family’s existence depended upon my situation— was that not
the case that I should retire at all hazards ; that I never concealed my
opinion of Capt. Norton ; that it most certainly was not the same that
the Government had of him ; that I could not think well of him, but
that I had and was determined, contrary to my opinion, to endeavour
all in my power to support him.

Shortly after, meeting this character at dinner at General De
Rottenburg’s, the old subject of the intrigues and cabals of the Six
Nations was brought and my saying that they hated Norton. This I
denied but declared what I had always said, and which I said again,
that the Six Nations would not be commanded by him, (for this is one
of his great objects), and that I was convinced that it was this that
caused jealousy among them. The General proposed calling the
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Indians together and to declare to them that no one was to command
them. I replied that I thought it very proper, but that his time was
so very precious at that moment I thought the best way for Captain
Norton to try his influence was to say he required 50 or 100 men to
go with him, and then we would see his influence. He declined this,
and required the Council. This was in the presence of General De
Rottenburg. I told Capt. Norton to warn the Indians that the General
would meet them at twelve next day. When he went away the
General expressed a wish that the Council should not take much of
his time. I told him I feared that most of the day would be taken
up, but that I would go up to the X roads early in the morning and
see what I could do to make it as short as possible. When I arrived
at the camp I found Capt. Norton in deep council with a few and said
what I had come for, and as usual his reply was, “The General did not
tell me so.” After a little while I sent for the Indians, that the General
when he arrived need not wait. On Capt. Norton’s coming he
expressed his surprise that any Indians were called except the Grand
River Indians. I told him it was the General’s desire that all the
Indians should be present, but as I had and was determined to give
way to him in everything I would now do what was most uncustom-
ary and send away the other nations, which I did. On the Governor’s
arrival he opened the Council in the usual manner, by saluting them,
and afterwards told them that it appeared to him that there was
something which caused uneasiness in their minds; that they con-
ceived they were to be commanded ; that he repeatedly desired it to
be made known to them that no one was to command them ; that they
were to be led by their own chiefs, but that to make their minds quite
easy he had come down to tell them so from his own mouth. Capt.
Norton interrupted the interpreter and said that I had told the
General that the Indians hated him. I again contradicted him and
appealed to the General, but what I have said I will repeat, that they
will not be led by you. The General was obliged to interfere, and
order him to allow the interpreter to go on. After this each nation
spoke, and said they did not hate him but wished he would let them
alone; that they did not want him about them, and mentioned some
things that were by no means in his favor, which he endeavored to
explain away. After this “the Echo,” an Onondaga chief, made a
very long speech, neither in his favor nor against him, altho’ he was
brought forward by him to speak, and the day before he told General
De Rottenburg that this man was no chief, but as he could speak he
was bronght forward, and that he was a worthless fellow, and appealed
to me if it was not so, and he was the only man he could get to come
forward. The Council broke up, and not much to the satisfaction of
Capt. Norton. Not many days after this General De Rottenburg
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called a Council of all the nations, and before he had finished this man
had the audacity to step forward and address the chiefs. I stept back
and told the General I was determined not to interfere or interrupt
Capt. Norton, but that he was now interrupting the Council. The
General spoke to him [but] he replied that he had not six words to
say and persisted. After the Council was over the Mohawk chief, Te
Karchaga, spoke and began by telling when Norton first came among
them they were ignorant of the tree he sprung from or any of its
branches. That latterly he became a chief and was exposing him a
good deal, when Norton got up and addressed the Indians and pre-
vented the chief from proceeding, and turned about to the officers and
said that what he had said would be answered in a few words, that
he did not come there to hear a long sermon. His conduct, I believe,
began to disgust General De Rottenburg and most of his supporters,
for most of the officers were present. A few days after this he called
at my room and said that I had sent for him. I told him he never
was more mistaken ; that I should be candid with him, that I had not
sent for him, neither did I ever wish to see a man who would under-
handedly state falsehoods to prejudice the Commander of the Forces
against me. He attempted to explain. I would not allow him, but
told him that a day would arrive when I should call on him to make
good his representations or suffer, I trusted, for his infamy towards
me. He went to General Vincent’s tent and, as usual, complained of
my treatment of him, and the General's patience, I believe, got
exhausted, when he told him he never came to see him but with some
grievance or complaint against me and Major Givins; that we often
came to see him and sat for hours without even mentioning his name,
and that he firmly believed that we never gave ourselves the trouble
of thinking about him. He was constantly threatening to leave us
and join his friends in the west, and I assure you that one time
General De Rottenburg was seriously alarmed about it. Since these
people have come down it does not appear that he is known by them,
and Elliott confirms the opinion that they do not know him. He had
connected himself ‘with the Onondagas, but for what reason I do not
know he hag left them. He had done the same with the Mohawks,
and has two children in that nation. He has now connected himself
with a Delaware family, and has married the grand-daughter of an
old man or rather the daughter of a deserter from the Queen’s
Rangers and a common woman. Had the family been of any weight
or the least consequence I should not have been surprised, but they
are the poorest and least influenced among their people; indeed, they

are seldom with their nation, being among the whites making brooms
and baskets, and the mother and daughter amusing themselves. This
is the connection he has formed. Mr. Addison married them in August
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last, since which he has done nothing but ride about the country with
madam and a posse of his connections.

The next thing that oecurred was a skirmish at Ball’s, the farm
on which all our little skirmishes or scenes took place last summer.
The enemy made their appearance on the 17th of July, and the
Indians immediately turned out, and one Cayuga lad was killed by a
round shot. I was not with them, as I was stationed at St. Davids,
from whence I shortly removed to where the Indians were in the
centre at the crossroads.

On the 17th of August the enemy made their appearance, and
the troops and Indians were under arms immediately and advanced.
Col. Stewart of the Royals desired that Indians should be sent to the
right and left that we might not have our flanks turned. Idid it
with reluctance as I never wished to separate the Indians. This was
not enough. When we got to the advanced picquets more parties
were required to be sent out, and our number reduced from upwards
of 300 to not more than 50. We had not been long here (advanced
picquet) when firing commenced on our left in Ball's fields, to which
place I went as quick as possible with the few Indians I had remain-
ing, not supported with or by the troops, and met the Senecas, who,
after exchanging some shots, led us into a trap, for in the skirts of
the wood were laying the riflemen and a number of the troops. We
retired to the first field that we engaged them in, and after some firing
Capt. Norton observed that it would not do, that we must retire and
collect. That was enough. The word was hardly given when all set
off from the tield, when Major Givins observed to me that we might
as well follow. We were then alone in the field on the skirt of the
wood. I endeavored to halt them, but all in vain. Our loss was
severe this day. I attributed it to dividing us, for our Indians that
were detached ran to the spot and met the Senecas whom they took
for our own people. Five were killed, three wounded and ten taken
prisoners, besides Captain Lorimier and Livingstone, the interpreter
who was severely wounded. It was nearly attended with serious
consequences. The Western Indians had four of their people killed,
and said that the Six Nations were the cause of it. Eyery Indian
moved off from their camp, some eight and ten miles. The next
morning the sentries reported that Indians were seen in the skirt of
the wood. I collected all the Indians I could and about 50 men of the
Glengarry Regiment, under Major De Haren. We advanced in an
extended line through a wood to a clearing on the opposite side,
" (Ball's fields again), when an inhabitant came to me tosay that alarge
column was advancing by Ball’s house. I rode to the road and could
not see more than 40 or 50 men, but looking to their right I perceived
a number of people running towards our left. I immediately went
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back to where our people were and we retired into the wood and
formed there. We again changed our ground and crossed the road,
after which the skirmish began and continued three hours. When
we went out Capt. Norton declined to go on such foolish business.
After we had been engaged an hour and a half he made his appear-
ance. The troops certainly came to our support this day. We lost
one Cayuga chief, killed. The Senecas lost two killed and one taken
prisoner. The prisoner was much in liquor. He told me it was the
case the day before, that they were made drunk, pushed forward and
not supported. After we retired General De Rottenburg met Norton,
took him by the hand and complimented him upon his gallant and
[meritorious ?] conduct, to the mortification of a number of the officers
of the department present, when no notice was taken of them. I had
the gratification in that part of the field to show him to an officer of
the Royals, who called out to me: “ For God’s sake ! Col. Claus, why
will you not send somebody to support Capt. Norton ?” « Where is
he, Sir ¢ “ There in front with only four or five Indians.” This was
John Brant. I called to John and asked him where Norton was.
*“There, Sir,” pointing to a fence about 50 yards in rear, and Norton at
the same time calling out, “ Here'I am.” “I went to the officer and
asked him where Norton was. He made no answer but rode off, but
iqch was the opinion of the man that nothing could be done but by
im.

On the 20th of August,1 believe, Sir George Prevost arrived.
On that day two of our Indians, La Serre and a Delaware, prisoners,
were sent with a flag to speak to our Indians. It was to say that if
they would retire the Nations with the Americans would do the same.
Their reply was that their minds wére made up; that they were
determined to share the fate of the King.

On the 23d I rode up to St. Davids to pay my respects to Sir
George. He was closeted with General De Rottenburg, Lieut.-Col.
Harvey and Lieut.-Col. Nichol, Quartermaster General of Militia.
General De Rottenburg came over to his house for me and I was
honored by being admitted and the intended reconnoissance made
known to me, or, as I expected, an attack on Fort George. I was told
to -have the Indians ready. I applied for the Voltigeurs, as I was
told they were to be attached to me. They were ordered to join us
and the arrangement left to me. I returned immediately to camp
and sent for Major Heriot, with whom our plan was arranged. I
collected all the Indians, gave them distinguishing marks and sup-
plied them with ammunition, telling them that every man would be
required before day. My plan was to advance between picquets Nos.
3 and 4, so as to support either of the parties attacking their picquets.
All the enemy’s picquets were to be attacked at the same time. We
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could either have given them support or cut them off in their retreat.
While waiting hefore day for the order to advance, Lieut.-Col. Harvey
rode up and asked me my plan. I told him. He said it might inter-
fere with Lieut.-Col. Battersby and defeat his object. “Then what
shall I do?” “ You had better remain with the reserve.” *That will
never do for the Indians, but if you will permit me I will advance -
near Ball’s and remain there.” This was agreed to. Some time after
the firing commenced at daylight, General Vincent advanced to where
we were and ordered us to advance and cover the dragoons that were
going into town. We went on and a dragoon came to me from Lieut.-
Col. Harvey and said that the whole of the American force was in the
wood to my right. I waved my hand to the Indians, who were a
good way 1n my rear, to cross a fence and scour the skirts of the wood,
upon which Colonel Harvey came up and asked me what was the
matter. He was much vexed at the fellow as he had directed him to
send some Indians and see if there were no Indians in the wood upon
my right. Upon which a party was immediately sent, and Major
Givins with another party further to my right, and the main body
with myself covered the 19th Dragoons with Lieut.-Col. Harvey, who
galloped into town driving the picquets and everything else before
them. On getting into town we et the different parties of our troops
who had advanced by the left and in the rear of my house. The
Indians all assembled and formed a line, and were advancing into
town, from whence we received a few shot. Their advance was done
of their own accord without any orders, and I am convinced that in
twenty minutes we would have been in the middle of the town and
silenced the firing, but the following note reached me as we were
advancing :—

“Col. Claus will retire with the cavalry to the camp.”

This was from Lieut. Barnard, General Vincent’s aide-de-camp,
upon which I drew off the Indians, and on the road Sir George desired
that I would post the Indians in the wood along the road and wait an
hour to see if the enemy would come out. We waited till the bugle
sounded for our going in. Thus ended the affair of the 24th of
August, which we anxiously expected was the day of attack instead
of a reconnoissance. On this occasion the Indians were not mentioned,
although they did everything that was required of them, but I can
only account for it in this way, that Captain Norton was not with
them. On the 22d when Sir George left the room we were in I took
the opportunity of following him and mentioning the order of the 7th of
August, and told him that I felt it as a most severe reflection on me,
that I knew Capt. Norton corresponded with headquarters [and] that
I had reason to believe he had been making representations against
me. Sir George admitted that he had. I told him what I supposed



37

these representations were; that this was no time for division, but
that a day would arrive, I hoped, when I should look for justice, and
that I would make it appear under his own handwriting that he had
made false representations. I mentioned these instances, when Sir
George retired saying, “ If what I suspect is true he will dwindle into
that 1nsignificance from whence he rose,” and I should have said a
great deal more had Sir George given me the opportunity, but before
he left I gave him my opinion of Captain Norton, and said the same
that I did to General De Rottenburg and General Vineent, that I did
not think well of him, and not as the Government did, yet it was my
duty to support him, although contrary to my opinion. It appears
that Sir George spoke to him and very seriously, which, I understood,
from an officer at headquarters, was not well received.

A few days after [on] the 6th Sept., a party of our people went
to a field of oats belonging to Mr. Ball to cut them. While there they
were tired upon. I collected all the Indians immediately and joined
our people. Lieut.-Col. Battersby with the Glengarry Regiment
went out with us, and after some hours firing we retired. Two
Oneidas were killed on the side of the enemy and two wounded. We
had two Mohawks wounded and one Cayuga taken. He was drunk
and ran into their hands. A Tuscarora chief, who was also very
drunk, went forward after we retired and brought on the firing again,
by which he lost his life. Seeing the enemy in pursuit of him we
returned the fire, and a young Delaware, who was more active than
the others, got a shot at the two white men who were taking off his
scalp and broke the arm of one. His ammunition was out or he
would have killed one of the two men. He received two wounds, one
of which lamed him.

On this occasion General De Rottenburg was pleased to issue an
order, an extract of which is annexed, although on former occasions
no notice of us was taken, particularly on the 18th and 24th of
August. I shall say nothing of the 17th August, although it was a
severe action and our loss was great, but we ran away, I am sorry to
say, shamefully. T have accounted for it in preceding pages of this
narrative. g

“ HEADQUARTERS, FourR MILE CREEK,

9th September; 1813.

“A report having been made to General De Rottenburg of the
gallant and very spirited conduct of a small party of Indians under
the direction of Colonel Claus and Captain Kerr, in an affair with the
enemy’s riflemen near the Cross Roads on Monday last, the Major-
General has directed that a comwmunication of his thanks be made to
the Indians engaged that day. Their conduct in this affair has



38

given the Major-General particular satisfaction, inasmuch as it affords
proof that their zeal in the cause in which we are engaged is undim-
inished, as well as their confidence in the support which they are sure
always to receive from their white brethren.”

About this time desertions became so prevalent that the General
wished me to move to the left and induce some of the Indians to go
that way. I moved and took about 60, and although we were not
successful in taking any of the deserters, yet in some measure it was
put a stop to. The Indians both on the left and the centre went out
every night a half mile in advance of our picquets and returned after
daylight. This they continued until the General desired that I would
take them off, as it was too fatiguing. They never complained, but
went out every night most cheerfully. From their inactive life in
other respects the Indians became very tired, and frequently wished
to know when the attack on Fort George would be made, that their
people were always on the road going home, but if they knew they
would collect all their force. This I could never answer, for I was as
much in the dark with respect to the operations of our little army as
they were. You are aware of the necessity of having presents to
enable us to keep the Indians in good humor. General De Rottenburg
directed me to purchase what I could, but the country was so stripped
of everything that what I could get was not enough for fifty men,
yet I must do them the justice to say that there was very little dis-
content on that head except among worthless fellows.

I must again bring Mr. Norton forward. Oune of his great griev-
ances was not having the power of making presents; that 1 would not
allow hiln. This was one of his complaints, when the storekeepers’
accounts will show that of those few articles he gave away more than
I did, and even 24 blankets that I put aside for the Western Indians
were given away on his order, and my word to those people forfeited.
Such is the villainy of this man, for I ecan call it nothing else.
After the order of the 7th August he sent his notes to me as usual,
which I refused, saying that if he made a requisition for any quantity
agreeably to the order of the 7th August I would submit it to the
General for his approval, and he would then get them and distribute
them as he pleased. This was a subject of complaint again, and when
the General saw me he told me of it, and that he offered to put goods
in his hands, which he declined, as he had no storekeeper. I told the
General that he must now see his ohject—a distinet department—
however, he did not succeed. Early in September we got a quantity
of cali.co, some serge, sateen, tobacco and several other articles. Such
quantity as was required was issued, and a great quantity of calico
remaining, which I left in rear at the Twelve Mile Creek.

On the 26th September I perceived an uncommon stir in our
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camp, all tents struck, waggons loaded, ete. I was rather anxious
but as no order had been communicated to me I remained quiet. The
Indians were uneasy, and many went off from an idea we were going
to retreat. About 9 o'clock p. m. I received a note to say that the
militiamen for the guard-boat had not gone down that night; on the
answer sent I received a note from the Deputy-Adjutant-General,
Lieut.-Colonel Harvey, saying he supposed I had not seen the General
Order of that day. I ordered my horse and rode down to his quarters
and begged a sight of the order. It was for the troops to hold them-
selves in readiness to move at an instant’s notice. He observed that
there was a probability of an attack in the morning, and everything
was to be in readiness to move to the centre, to concentrate our forces
there. I replied that I was very sorry, but that the preparations had
caused uneasiness among the Indians and that many had gone off, but
that I would warn those in camp and have them with me before day,
which I did, but they were much dissatisfied, saying that their eyes
were always kept shut which was not the case in former days. I did
all I could to quiet them and at this time their numbers had dwindled
down to eight only, and at the Cross Roads I believe not more than
50. Whenever I mentioned the necessity and propriety of acquaint-
ing the Indians with any movement that was likely to take place I
was generally asked: “Why are they to be made acquainted with
any plan of operations? No! No!

Seeing that the heavy baggage was moving to the right, I sub-
mitted the necessity of sending what Indian goods we had to the
Forty Mile Creek, which the General approved of, and desired that I
would have it done. I rode from his house to,the 12 and directed the
storekeeper, Mr. Price, to send a few articles to the Cross Roads and
to send the rest to the 40. A few days after this I was ordered to
the Heights to forward.some presents, which were supposed to have
arrived there for the Western Indians. My objeet in going was to
select those I knew were most wanted and to forward them first. On
my arrival at the 12 I found none of the goods had been moved and
the storekeeper insisting on it that I had not given any directions
about them, when nothing took me up the day before but for the
express purpose of sending them back. On my arrival at the Heights
I had the mortification to hear of the fate of General Procter’s small
force, and not an article of presents there for the Western Indians but
what had been forwarded before. The enclosed letter from Colonel
Elliott will more fully explain to you every transaction since the
unfortunate capture of our fleet on Lake Erie. The prior transactions
in that part of the country you are in possession OE The day after
my arrival at Burlington Heights I never was more surprised than to
hear of our people retreating on the Heights, and the following night
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Major Givins and the officers of the department joined me at Ancaster,
except Mr. Price, storekeeper. On account of his neglect all the goods
we had were destroyed at the 12, as well as a quantity of provisions
and commissariat stores. The unfortunate defeat of General Procter
alarmed the Grand River Indians, and on Colonel Elliott and Capt.
McKee advising them to move as soon as possible, as General Harrison
was in pursuit of General Procter, they immediately abandoned their
homes and eame down with the army and are now with the Western
Indians encamped at the beach in rear of Mr. Brant’s. The enclosed
return is of the Western Indians and the other paper that of the
Grand River [Indians]. For them we have as yet received but a very
small proportion of presents. The vast number of horses and cattle
that is with the Indians is injuring the country very much. Parties
are kept with the advance at Stoney Creek. Colonel Elliott and his
officers are there. I have stated all that my memory allows me.
Many circumstances have occurred, I am certain, that I have not
mentioned. Should any come to recollection I shall let you know.
One thing I have to remark, that jealousy certainly exists in respect
to orders, in which the troops always get credit for what is done by
the Indians, particularly to the westward. I do not believe that
Colonel Elliott’s name has ever appeared in general orders, and that
man has been out with the Indians upon every occasion, and no man
has sutfered more than he.

I am, dear Sir, with every sentiment of respect and regard,
Your faithful servant and friend,
W. CLAUS,
Deputy Superintendent Gen.

A LETTER FROM LIEUT.-COLONEI, MATTHEW ELLIOTT TO
COLONEYL WM. CLATUS.

Dunbpas, 24th Oct., 1813.

DEAR Sir,—I have to inform you of the arrival of myself and
about 2,000 Indians, (men, women and children,) at this place from
the Western District. The causes that led to this event will be best
explained by a simple narrative of facts that have occurred since the
loss of our fleet on the 10th September.

A few days after that event Major-General Procter gave orders to
remove the stores and dismantle the fort preparative to the retreat of
the troops. This being done without the Indians being consulted
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caused a very great jealousy, from the supposition that their father
was about to desert them. This was heightened by the uncertainty
they labored under with respect to the fate of the fleet. To obtain
an explanation Tecumtha and the other chiefs requested General
Procter and myself to meet them in council, which took place on the
17th September, when Tecumtha, in the name of the whole, delivered
a speech, the purport of which was to call on the General for infor-
mation of his intentions, and to urge his making a stand with the
Indians and the physical force of the country at Amherstburg before
he retreated, stating that until we were beaten it would be impolitie
to give ground. On the 19th the General returned his answer, in
which he stated it was not his intention to leave the District but only
to fall back to the river Thames at Chatham where he would be out
of reach of their shipping. He was determined to make a stand. To
this place he invited them to accompany him. Agreeable to the
arrangements which took place at the Council the Shawanese, Hurons
and other Indians crossed and proceeded to Sandwich. On the 23rd
the enemy landed at Amherstburg, and the same day the troops
retreated to Levalle’s. The Indian goods which had come up I met
at Sandwich and sent them back as far as Mrs. McIntosh’s, where the
next day I distributed part of them to the Indians, with whom I
remained, and kept two days march in rear of our troops. On our
arrival at the river Thames I had the number of the Indians taken,
when it appeared that the Pottewatomies, Miamies, Ottawas, (a part
of them,) and Chippewas had remained behind and it was supposed
had crossed the river Detroit. This desertion reduced our number to
1000, (the number we should have had, had the stand been made at
Amherstburg was 3000.) This number was again lessened on the 2d
of October by the desertion of the Hurons and a few of the Shawan-
ese, who, finding from our movements that we did not intend to make
a stand at Chatham, as had been agreed at the Council, embraced an
opportunity afforded them by a flag borne by the Indians of Sandusky
to take the Americans by the hand. The enemy’s ships were at this
time off the mouth off the River Thames. The inhabitants, who were
the bearers of the flag, told the Hurons that General Harrison would,
on the 3d at 12 o'clock, make his headquarters at Colonel McKee’s
farm. This information I communicated to General Procter on the
morning of the 3d, shortly after which he proceeded towards the
Moravian Town, 28 miles distant, and about an hour after he set off
our scouts brought word that the enemy had crossed the forks
and were rapidly advancing up the river. An express was immedi-
ately sent to apprise the General, (the express overtook him at Shaw’s,)
and Colonel Warburton made arrangements to meet them ‘at or near
McCrae’s. A party of Indians attacked and compelled their advance
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* guard to retire. The Indians, in consequence of the General’s absence,
drew off across the forks at that time and sent word to Colonel
Warburton that they were determined not to fight as the General
had deceived them by leaving them. I was enabled to change their
minds and they agreed to wait and meet the enemy at Chatham.
The troops fell back opposite this place on the morning of the 4th
October. The enemy advanced up to Chatham, where a partial skir-
mish took place between the advance guards. At about 11 o’clock a.
m. General Procter arrived and found fault with Colonel Warburton
for leaving Dolson’s. Yet he very soon after ordered the troops to
retreat to Moravian Town. From the manner in which this was con-
ducted the greater part of the provisions and stores fell into the
enemy’s hands. The Indians kept up a fire across the, fork for some
time after the troops moved off and then followed, after burning a
house in which was a quantity of arms and stores. We halted this
evening at Sherman’s, five miles from the Moravian Town. The
women and most of the baggage had been sent forward a few days
previous. Early on the morning of the 5th our scouts brought word
that the enemy was advancing on both sides of the river rapidly and
in force. The General determined to halt and wait for their arrival,
for which purpouse the troops were halted about two miles from Jack-
‘man’s. The troops were posted in two lines on the left, so as to have
their flank, covered by the river, supported by a six-pounder which
was posted in the road, the Indians in one line on the right. In this
position we waited about two hours, when the enemy commenced the
attack. Our six-pounder was carried by a few American horse with-
out its being once discharged. The conduct of the troops was shame-
ful in the highest degree; a great part of them never fired one round
until they retreated. This threw the Indians in the centre into con-
fusion and they broke. On the right they remained firing and com-
Eelled the enemy’s left wing to retreat about a mile and a half. I

ave as yet been unable to ascertain the enemy’s loss but judge it
must have been considerable. The Indians on their return from the
pursuit were much surprised to find that we had not been equally
suc.cessful on the left, and the unexpectedness threw them into con-
fusion and a retreat ensued, which put the whole of our baggage, both
pubh(.: and private, into the hands of the enemy. At daylight next
morning I overtook General Procter at Delaware, and, making every
arrangement in my power for the accommodation of the Indians, I
proceeded to Burford, from whence Captain Wm. Elliott was by me
sent back to Delaware to meet the Indians and to purchase provisions
for them on the route. He joined me at Burford on the 22d with the
last of the Indians, about 700 in number, when I proceeded with them
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to this place. Should there be any more coming in I have made such
arrangements as will insure them provisions on the road.
I am, dear Sir, your obedient, humble servant, .
The Hon. W. Claus, Esq. M. ELLIOTT.
(From the Canadian Archives, C. 681.) -

LETTER FROM CAPTAIN JOHN NORTON TO HON. HENRY
GOULBURN.

LonDoN, Jan. 29, 1816.

Sir,—Having presented a memorial petitioning such consideration
of rank as might be thought proportionate to the number of warriors
I led and services in the field, I now give some instances well known to
many officers now in this country.

When the report came to the Niagara frontier that the American
General Hull had crossed at Sandwich I proposed to the late Major-
General, Sir Isaac Brock, to go with as many warriors as I could
collect to endeavour to prevent the enemy from drawing supplies from
the River Thames. He acceded to my request, and to strengthen
the undertaking he ordered two hundred militia from Long Point to
join Major Chambers, with a detachment of the 41st Regiment. The
militia refusing to turn out, this officer was recalled with his men to
embark at Long Point. We proceeded by the intended route, collect-
ing a body of Ottawa and Chippawa warriors as we advanced.

According to the orders I had received I opened a correspondence
with General Procter, and having placed ourselves in advance of the
mills, where the enemy had deposited [supplies], as we were constantly
gaining additional strength we waited there until I received a letter
from the General named to advance and join him at Sandwich. The
day after our arrival there Major-General Sir Isaac Brock came with
reinforcements.

After summoning General Hull to surrender, without effect, he
told me to keep in readiness to cross the river before day, and that he
had particularly selected me to precede the troops in marching to the
attack of the fort. As we approached the fort a party of the enemy’s
riflemen retired before us, and soon after we saw the white flag hoisted
and a parley commenced which ended in a capitulation.

When General Brock embarked to return to Niagara he urged
me to lose no time in taking down my party to that frontier. Every
diligence was used and I had soon collected between five and six
hundred men. We saw the enemy daily increasing their force on the
opposite shore and were constantly employed in watching their
motions. After a few weeks the want of supplies and the approach
of the season for hunting caused my party to diminish in number.



e

The attack and capture of some vessels at Fort Erie by the enemy
caused us to march to that place in support of the troops stationed
there. Perceiving that no further attempts was likely to be made in
that quarter we returned to Fort George.

On the morning of the 13th of October we heard firing at Queens-
ton. I saw the General and his staff’ at a distance riding towards
that place. I called upon Major-General Sir R. H. Sheaffe, the second
in command. He directed me to get my men in readiness. On my
way to.the camp Lieut.-Col. Evans of the King’s rode up to me and
told me that the enemy was in possession of Queenston. We hastened
towards that place and when within two miles we heard that General
Brock was killed and that the troops and militia stationed there had
been compelled to retire.

We saw the enemy on the heights and determined to attack him
by inclining to the right to ascend the eminence on the left of his
flank. We met several retiring. I told an officer among them that
we would assail the enemy in the flank where he least expected it,
and that a speedy co-operation of the troops would enable us to give
him a speedy overthrow.

We ascended the hill, attacked and drove an advanced party of
the enemy into the main body, which we assailed notwithstanding the
great odds of numbers. Persevering several hours, when we saw the
troops and militia coming by the same route which we had passed, I
concentrated my men in a ravine and desisted from assaulting the
enemy until the troops could form on our right, at the same time
sending notice to Sir R. H. Sheaffe of our position.

He sent Lieut. Kerr to enquire our situation and the strength of
the enemy, to whom I fully explained the advantage I expected to
derive in assailing them from the quarter we occupied as soon as the

-troops should advance on the right. The General then sent me a
further reinforcement. As soon as all was in readiness and the cannon
began we rushed upon them and broke the flank, pursuing them with
considerable slaughter till we raised the shout in the rear of the
centre, which seemed to throw the whole into confusion, when, in less
than half an hour, we had them down the precipice to the river.

General Wadsworth and a great number of officers and upwards
of nine hundred men then surrendered to Major-General Sir R. H.
Sheaffe. In this last assault His Majesty’s troops met with no loss,
or at the utmost two or three men. In the morning the 49th flank
companies suffered severely in gallantly opposing a very superior
force. The enemy acknowledged to have sent twenty-two hundred
men across and allege that the militia, who had not yet passed the
river, refused to follow the van on seeing the manner in which it
‘was assailed.
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The enemy was yet in great force on the opposite shore, which
gave us just cause to watch them until a.ftel.' Christm@s, whgn the ice
floating 1n the river prevented the possibility of their erossing. The
General acceded to our going home. Soon after, I received instruc-
tions to go to Detroit. General Procter, commanding there, being
desirous to retain me, obtained the consent of Sir George Prevost, but
being necessitated to go home I did not think fit to leave our own
frontiers without the assent of Sir R. H. Sheaffe, which he at first
declined giving, alleging that he soon expected an attack. Being
desirous to overcome General Harrison, that we might concentrate to
repel the attack hanging over us, I persisted and he acquiesced.
However, it was of no effect, for a few days after, while I was yet
collecting my party to go, we heard that the ememy had attacked
York. ,

I then went in that direction with all the men I could raise as
far as the Beach of Lake Ontario, when I heard that all was over and
that the enemy had re-embarked. At that time, receiving letters from
General Vincent and Lieut.-Colonel Myers to repair to Fort George, I
went there with all that would follow, for the greater part went home
to plant their corn. :

On the 27th May at Fort George we did as well as we could and
retired among the last, opposing for some time a very superior force.
At the Twelve Mile Creek a number joined us from the Grand River.

We stopped there to cover the retreat and attack the enemy if
the General should see fit. The army retreated and we followed. At
Stoney Creek a few of us risked with His Majesty’s troops, and after-
wards, by repeatedly attacking every detachment that ventured out-
side of the fortitied encampment at Fort George, we lessened the
number of the enemy and so far intimidated them that they became
like prisoners at their own expense.

At the battle of Chippawa we were victorious when we fought
the volunteer militia, and the aborigines of different tribes aiding the
enemy fled before us. We killed many and took some prisoners;
among the former was a Lieutenant-Colonel commanding and a Seneca
chief, among the latter a major and some other officers. Coming to
the enemy’s columns we fired on them until we perceived our army
to be retreating, overwhelmed by a very superior force. We followed.

Atthe battle of the Cataract* we risked with our brother warriors,
and afterwards following the enemy to Fort Erie we partook of
every bloody encounter in this vicinity.

Tired of enumerating scenes, in which my heart was all engaged

* Lundy’s Lane.
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Preface.

N studying the history of Niagara and vicinity the graveyards
have teen found a fruitful source ot information, and over
fifty of these have been personaliy visited. The original plan
was to copy records of early settlers, United Emopire Loyal-

ists, Military or Naval Heroes or those who have helped forward
the progress of the country, as Clergy, Teachers, Legislators,
Agriculturists, etc., besides this any odd or quaint inscriptions.
No doubt many interesting and important inscriptions have been
omitted, but the limits of our usual publication have already been
far exceeded and these remain for another hand to gathet. To
follow the original lettering was desired but the additional cost
would have been beyond our modest means.

Hearty thanks are here returned for help given by Col.
Cruikshank, Rev. Canon Bull, Dr. McCollum, Mr. Geerge Shaw,
Rev. A. Sherk, Miss Forbes, Miss Shaw and Miss Biown, who all
sent inscriptions from their own vicinity. It is hoped that the
index of nearly six hundred names will be fournd of use and that /
our tenth publication will receive as kind a welcome as have tl
other pamphlets sent out by our Society. /
4
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Errata.

Notwithstanding great care while passing through the
press a few errors have crept in.

For Wauchusta read Wacousta, page 3.

Literateur read Litterateur, page 4.

Albert the Great read Albert the Good, page 7.

Capt. Geo. Deare died 1815 read 1851, page 11.

Jean Jacques Rousseaux read Jean Baptiste Rousseaux
page 18. /
Wm. Ball read Wm. M. Ball, page 19.

Col. M. McDougall, read Col. D. McDougall, pageél
daus read dans, nons read nous, page 23. .
See is gone read She is gone, page 24.

gestd read gest.
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GRAVES AND INSCRIPTIONS IN
THE NIAGARA PENINSULA.

BY JANET CARNOCHAN.

“Books in ithe running brooks,
Serinons in stenes and good in everything,”

Sermons in stones ! yes and far more : history, pathos and
humor, morality, religion, patriotism, warning, inspiration, what
shall we not find? But of the nameless graves, whether in con-
secrated ground, or in the plain, the- cultivated farm once the
scene of bloody warfare, in the ruined fort, or in many a lonely
spot we can never or rarely know the story. = Many of these form
a page of historv never to be wholly deciphered, but let us try
while we may, imperfectly though it be, to place on record, from
moss grown stone defaced by time or perchance ruder touch, the
names and what we can piece together of the early pioneers,
whether men or women, poet or artisan, soldier or priest, legisla-
tor or farmer, teacher or sailor and from these pages of the past,
we may learn lessons for the present or the futnre, lessons of
courage, ot unselfishness, of generosity, of friendship, ot patriot-
ism, of duty, of religion.  Then thev died, shot down by stealthy
Indian, or French or American foe, as now they give up their
young lives on Africa’s arid veldt, but each inspired by the same
adventurous spirit which has made - the Briton, be he Celt or Sax-
on, the pioneer in the world’s progress, one of the factors in that
“‘morning drum beat which encircles the globe” and proud that he
is one of a nation ‘‘on whose dominions the sun never sets.”

While most of the graveyards in the Niagara peninsula have
been visited and such help used as could be obtained from tablets
on the walls ot churches, monuments, church registers, tradition,
historical records, it has been found that there has been as much
change in the fashion as there is in dress or buildings. At one time
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the stately periods,or long high sounding phrase, the scripture texts
or doggerel rhyme, the severe simplicity of name, date. age, or the
fulsome flattery, or words of warning ; in some the unlettered
muse is much in evidence, ‘‘the uncouth rhymes and shapeless
sculpture,” or again the stately column or curiously carved figures.
All materials have been used, the wooden slab, marble, iron,
granite, or perhaps a huge boulder with initiais, the language
mostly English but a few were found in French, German and
some 1n statety Latin, [o early days before consecrated ground
was set apart many were buried on the farm in a plot generally
fenced in, but tn many cases the property has chauged hands
and the stones have been broken or even carted off, the field plow-
ed over and no trace remains. or the plot stands still fenced in,
but given over to burdocks and briars.

BUTLER’S FAMILY GRAVEYARD

Is situated about a mile from the town at the west end,
originally a part ot the land owuned by Col. Jno. Butler : here was
buried in 1796 the veteran on whose name so much obloquy-has
been heaped. undise'vedly we think, See Butler's Rangers by
Col. Cruikshank who has done so much for the elucidation ot
many points in Canadian history. - Aun erroneous opinion seems to
prevail with regard to this spot—that here are buried Butler’s
Rangers, that it is a military graveyard, but this is not the case
as it was a family burying ground and not that of the members of
that famed regiment, The will ot Col Butler directs that his
body be interred in his family burying ground, and in the rooms
of the Niagara Historical Society is a copy of the deed granted in
1832 to Warren Claus, Joha Claus, Ralph Clench, Jas. Muirhead,
Thomas Butler, Hugh Freel, giving the exact measurement from
the boundary tree, of the half acre constituting the burial plot.
The tarm of two hnndred acres has since been sold to two pzrsons
and the boundary line runs exactly through the centre of the bur-
ial plot.  Beautiful old trees wave a requiem over the plateau
which overlooks the meandering creek. Some years ago most of
the insriptions were copied by the writer, at a later visit the
stones were found lying in all directions. broken by the fall of an
immense tree which had been cut down, the vault fallen in and
open to the inquisitive and irreverent gamin who has beca koown
to carry off bones which should have been safe from such desecra-
tion.

Here are some of the inscriptions, the first peculiar in punc-
tuation and orthography : -



BUTLER'S FAMILY BURYING GROUND.

ST. JOHN’S CHURCH, STAMFORD, 1325.

From a peacil sketch by P, A. Peterson, 1860.
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“Deborah Freel: died 1816 aged 70, My dere: children :
Think on God : And His Commandments : An he wil Think on
yo : Observ your youth : don: lose no time : Least God should
take you in your prime : Serve God above : And on this world :
fix not your lov.”

Here is an example of the high sounding. carefully arranged
periods of those days In a country churchyard in Scotland I
copied one to a divine in much the same style of carefully propor-
tioned descriptive phrases.

g

““Here reposes Maria Caroline The generous hearted, high
souled, talented and deeply lamented wife of Major Richardson,
Koight of the Military order ot Saint Ferdinand. of the First-
Class, and Superintendent of Police on the Welland Canal during
the Administration ot Lord Metcalfe. This matchless woman
died of Apoplexy and to the exceeding grief of hzar faithfully
attached husband after a few days illness in St. Catharines on the
16th day of Aug. 1845 at the age of 37 years.”

It is remarkable how much the husband tells of himself in the
wite’s epitaph.

Here also are stones to Butler Muirhead, barrister, and Jas.
Muirhead, surgeon, (the former died in 1824), Mary, wife of John
Gustavus Stevenson and daughter of James and. Jane Butler, also
one to Eliza, wife of Charles Richardson, a large flat stone men-
tions that it is was erected as a family monument by Chas. Rich-
ardson, A.D. 1835, and reads thus: ‘‘Sacred to the memory of
Ralfe Clench, died Jan. 1828, aged 66 years, Eliza Euretta Rich-
ardson, youngest daughter of Ralfe Clench and Elizabeth, and
wife of Chas. Richardson, died Sept. 1833, aged 25 years, Jare,
wite of Robert Rist, late Capt. of 37th Regt., and eldest sister of
Chas. Richardson died 1831.” \

The Major Richardson reterred to was the author of The
Two Biothers, The Prophecy Wauchusta and History of the
War of-1812. Ralfe Clench was one of the Rangers, afterwards
Judge, Member of Parliament, and when advanced in life, fought
at Queenstor Heights, A small enclosure has flat stones to two
sons of Col. Butler, Thomas Butler and Johnson Butler who died
in Cecember 1812, and their wives, also Judge Thos Butler, the
son of Thos. Butler.

Another stone chronicles ‘‘Samuel Cox who was born on the
ocean between Germany and New York 1759, died 1822.” Col.
John Butler himself, that doughty veteran, has no stone to mark
the spot where he is interred. Some years ago an attempt was
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made to locate the grave and bury the remains in St. Mark’s, but
the design was abandoned,

SERVOS FAMILY BURIAL GROUND.

In the Servos burial place on the tarm of Mrs. Mary Servos,
there are five generations buried. Here is the grave of the widow
of Col. Johnson who was killed at the taking of Fort Niagara,
1759. '

*‘Sacred to the memory of Elizabeth Johnson, who died 8th
Nov., 1811, aged 104 years.” She had thus survived her husband
52 years, another is to her daughter Elizabeth Servos wife of
Daniel Servos who died in 1821 aged 72. Here also is buried
Magdalene Servos wife of John Whitmore, the little girl who wit- |
nessed the killing of her grandfather in the Revolutionary War and
was biought away to Cauada several years after by her tather,
afterwards marrying John Whitmore, himself at one time a
prisoner with the Indians, his nose and ears being.slit by them ;
their daughter became the wife of our distinguished literateur
William Kirby, F. R. S. C.

“Sacred to the memory of Elizabeth, relict of Colin {McNabb,
Esq., of , near Niagara, who departed this life Sept. 26th,
1812, aged 44 years; also of their son Colin Alexander, Lieut. in
H.M. late Nova Scotia Fencibles Regt., who departed this life
Nov, 1oth, 1820. In St. Mark’s register is a pathetic reference to
the former as recorded by Mr. Addison: *‘‘On the day on which
the engagement between Sir Jas. Yeo and Commodore Chauncy
took place on the lake, cur dear friend Mrs. McNabb was buried
in the Servos’ burying ground, 2gth Sept. 1814.”

A large monument is to Col. J. D. Servos who died in 1847,
aged 62, and another to Daniel Servos, Esq.. who died 26th
Mar., 1808, aged 65  In the Anglican Church at Virgil are two
tablets on the walls tc these, thus .

“Ip Memoriam Capt. Daniel Servos of Butler's Rangers,
United Empire Loyalist, died Mar, 26th, 1808, aged 65.”

“tCol John D. Servos, born in Niagara, 1784, was Captain
of the Lincoln Militia during the war of 1812-15. Commanded
the Militia at Chippawa during the Rebellionot 1837-8, died April
24th, 1847.”

Other names found here as Tannahill Fuller, Lowe, and sev-
eral Indians here found sepulture, and one at least who could not
have been a U. E. L. as a flat stone commemorates Wm. Lowe



b

of the parish of Clogheen, County of Tipperary, Ireland, and his
wife who died in 1813.

On the farm was the first mill in the country, and part of the
house still standing wns built in 1784. Old account books of that .
date show curious items, and commissions signed by different gov-
ernors, assert the military spirit of the family.

BALL FAMILY BURIAL GROUND.

The Ball graveyard at Locust Grove has also several genera-
tions buried in its enclosure.  The Jacob Ball who came with his
three sons bringing forty men, in 1782 lies here. *In memory of
Jacob Ball, born 1733, died 1810 "  Having fought in Queen’s
Rangers and Butler’s Rangers through the Revolutionary War
he was spared the second contest, dying two years before the war
of 1812. The sons, Peter, John and George are buried here,
while the other son, Jacob, is buried at the Ten Miie Creek. The
wife of Jacob Ball the elder, Mary Ball, died in 1814, agod %8, in
the midst of war’s alarms arcd shortly after the family residence
had been burnt.

How strangely occur references to the distant possessions of
this vast empire, as here in this quiet country graveyard is buried
a daughter of Major McKie, East India Company’s service,

Another, U. E. L. name is tound here : Elizabeth Showers,
wife of Peter Ball, born 1764, died 1844.

The last iuterred here was John W. Ball, for ﬁt[y years an
office bearer in St. Mark’s. '

FIELDs BROWN, VROOMAN.

Near the residence of Mr. Geo. Field, which is an historic
house, having been used as a hospital in the war of 1812, is a
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graveyard in which are interred members of ‘three families. The —

house near was built by Gilbert Field, the first brick house on the
river road -and before the beginniug ot the ceatury. A tombstone
tells us that he died in 1815, aged 50, while his son Daniel Field
who fought at Detroit, Queenston and Lundy’s Lane, died in
1873, having received for his services a medal gamed by the in-
strumentality of Hon. Wm. H. Merritt, as shown in a letter dated

Quebec, 1852, o

In another division of the plot is an inscription : -

*‘Sacred to the memory ot Solomon S. Vrooman, born Dec.
5th, 1783, died Aug. 21st, 1874, also to his wife Mary Brown.
S S. Vrooman fouO'ht at Queenston Heights and his picture ap-
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pears in a group of eight veterans taken in 1869 in front of the
monument, their united ages being 609. The position of Vroo-
~man’s battery is yet pointed out. A thick gray stone double with
a perpendicular division with angel’s faces carved above, has
these words :
*In memory of Joseph Brown, died 1821, aged 63, and his
consort. Rebecca Juhnson, gth March, 1808."

“Remember men when thou pass by
As you are now so once was I,

As we are now 8o you must be,
Remember men that all must die.”

Two others of the date 1808 also have angel’s taces.

“‘In memory of Nancy Vrooman, daughter of Solomon and
Mary Vrooman, died April 1808, in the 16th year ot her age.
Erected Mar. 1824,”

Also Phebe Brown, died 1808, showing the early possession
ot the farm, still in the same name,

BELLINGER FAMILY BURYING GROUND.

An almost forgotten family burying plot on the Cox farm
which having passed through many hands in the century we may
readily understand why the stones are broken and almost illegible,
This in old times was the Bellinger farm, there have evidently
been nearly a score of graves : rough stones still stand, and from
the dry bed of the brook we gathered fragments which we pieced
together with some degree of success. On a brownish grey stone
with the lettering still quite plain on the one half yet standing
was a quotation from the Apocrypha, the first found from its
pages of all so tar examined, and in another respect this stone is
unique as fuller particulars are given than elsewhere found ; while
others give year, month and day of birth and death these give
the hour of both.

“In memory of Phillip Bellinger who was born 2oth,
1725, between 4 and 5 o'clock in the morning, dl]d died Feb.
I6th 1799, between 4 and 5 o’clock in the morning.’

“Here rests the body of Nanna Pawling, wife of G. A, Pawl-
ing, who was born Aug. 1802, at o'clock in the morning,
and died June ——, at o'clock in the morning. She being
made perfect in a short time fulfilled a long time, For her soul
leased the Lord, therefore he hasted to take her away from
among the wicked.—Eccles , chap. 4, veises 13 and 14.”

I looked in vain in Ecclesiastes for this verse, then In Eccles-
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iasticus, finally found it in the Wisdom of Solomon but with the
word he instead of she. Since finding this inscription, placed
here nearly a century ago, a pathetic interest attaches to it as we
find that these are the verses selected by the Princess Alice for
her tather’s tomb, Albert the Great, and they certainly seemed ap-
p:opriate in his case. :

ST. MARK’S CEMETERY

Will require a more lengthened notice, for not only are the
inscriptions in the graveyard exceptionallv interesting, but the
walls of the church both outside and in add their quota of history,
romance or poetry, Here rest peacefully together different
nationalities and denominations, for as this was the first burial
place it was used by all at least forty years before other denomi-
nations provided a separate place. and to this day many bring
their dead from distant homes to ;ie here beside kindred dust.
The spot is an ideal one, Dean Stanley said, “This is a piece of old
England, dc not allow it to be touched.” Graceful elms and
drooping weeping willows lend their beauty, whose branches
whisper a requieum to the quiet dead, the remains of rifle pits
constructed 1n the war of 1812 may yet be seen, stones hacked by
the soldiery when in the hands of the enemy, all give a fitting sett-
ing to the old gray church with its tower and buttresses, The
parish dates back to 1792, while the church was built in 1802.
The oldest stone may be found on the east corner in the vestibule,
having been rescued from the place where it was almost buried.
The rude lettering shows an unskilled hand.

LENERD BLANCK,
DESEACED
5 AUG.
1782.

Perhaps the next in date is the following, but clear cut as if
done quite lately.

“Sacred to the memory of Elizabeth Kerr, wife of Robert
Kerr, who departed this life at Niagara, 24th January, A.D. 1794.
AEtat 32 years.

The hustand, Dr. Kerr, died at Albany in 1824, and was in-
terred there with Masonic honors, being Grand Master, Mrs.
Kerr was a daughter of Molly Brant and Sir William Johnson.

A large flat stone, hacked and marred so as to be almost
indecipherable having been used as a butcher’s block during the
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war while the town was in the hands of the Americans, has this
inscription.

““To the memory of Charles Morrison, a native of Scotland,
who resided many years at Michilimackinac as a merchant and
magistrate, and since the cession of that post to the United
States became a British subject by election — for loyalty to his
Sovereign and integrity in his dealings he was ever remarkable.
He died here on his way to Montreal on the 6th day of Sept.,
1802, aged 63 years.” ' 3

Another altar tomb near, also detaced in the same way reads;

““In memory of Geo. Forsyth who in his long residence as a
merchant and magistrate in the town was beloved for his mild
manners and great worth, died Sept. r5th, 1803, aged 32 years.”’

In the porch at the north door of the chuich, (the older part)
is a tablet which having fallen down in the graveyard has beeu
placed here, and is the only record we have here of those who fell
defending their country from the invader on the memorable 27th
May, 1813, when a force of 6,000 landed, the Niagara frontier be-
ing defended by a force ot 1500 only.

“In memory of Capt. M. McLelland, aged 42 years ; Charles
Wright and Wm, Cameron, in the 25th.vear of their age, of the
1st Regiment of Lincoln Militia, who gloriously fell on the 27th
May 1813, also Adjutant Lloyd of the 8th King’s Regiment ot
Infantry.

**Ag lurid lightnings dart their vivid light,

So poured they forth their fire in b oody fight.
They bravely feil and served their country’s cause,
They loved their Constitution, King and Laws.”’

In the first poem -published by Mr. Kirby, called the U. E.
is a character called by him Ranger John. Here in the eastern
side of the graveyard is a simple inscription to the old U, E. Loy-
alist from whom the character in the poem was drawn,

“John Clement, Esq., died Feb. t1th, 1845, aged 87.”

The name of Col, John Butler in certain histories is held up to
obloquy, but as time rolls on the partizan spirit is dying out, and
poet and historian will yet do late justice to the leader of the irreg-
ular force called Butlers’ Rangers. On a tablet in the church
may be read these words :
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“‘Fear God and honour the King. In memory of Col. John
Butler, His Majesty’s Commissioner for Indian Affairs, born in
New London, Connecticut, 1728. His life was spent honorably
in the service of the Crown. In the war with France. for the con- .
quest of Canada, he was distinguished at the battle of Lake
George, Sept. 1755, at the siege of Fort Niagara and its capitula-
tion 25th July, 1759. In the war ot 1776 he took up arms in
defence of the Unity of the Empire and raised and commanded the
Roval American Regiment of Butler’s Rangers. A sincere Chris-
tian as well as a brave soldier, he was oue of the founders and the
first patron of this parish. He died at Niagara, May, 1796, and
is interred in the family burying ground near this town. Erected
1880.”

Some years ago an attempt was made to remove the remains
to St. Mark's but the grave could not be located.

Outside the eastern wall a brave young sailor who gave his
life for his country is commemorated. = Another tablet inside also
records his name, the one erected by his nephew at the request of
brothers and sisters, the other by Capt. Dawes, R.N., at rhe re-
quest of his mother,

“*Sacred to the memery of Capt. Copeland Radcliffe, of His
Britannic Majesty’s Navy, who fell whilst gallantly leading on his
men to board one of the enemy’s schooners at anchor off Fort
Erie on the night of the 17th Aug. 1814,”

Near the north corner of the cemetery is a monument to

“Col. Ralph Clench, died Jan. i1gth, 1828, aged 66 years,
also Elizabetb, his wife, who died Aug, 15th, 1850, aged 78."

Reference has alreadv been made to the hounorable work ot
Ralph Clench, the body buried first in Butler’s graveyard was
removed here. It is recorded in the very rare copy of the pro-
ceedings of the Loyal and Patriotic Society formed during the
War of 1812, that the house of Mr. Clench was the the only one
saved in the town from the conflagration, but it was accidently
burnt shortly after. 2

Not far from the church are the graves of two worthies
yet unmarked, but who well deserve to be remembered. Dom-
inic Heury, an old soldier of the army of Cornwallis, whe
afterwards tcok charge of the lighthouse which stood where
Fort Mississagua now stands, from 1803 to 1814. His wife who
on the 27th May, served out refreshments to our forces had
her services acknowledged by the Loyal and Patriotic Society.
who preeented her with 425, calling her ‘‘a heroine not to be
frightened,”
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Another stone has the inscription .
*‘Hermanus de Graff, of Schenectady, who departed this lite
in 1802, aged 28.

Stop traveller and weep,

For here beneath death’s shade,
Snatched from his friends,

A lovely youth is laid.

But sleep in hope,

For soon he’ll burst this sod,
And rise in air

To meet his Saviour God.

o~

*‘In memory of Col. Wm. Kingsmill, son of the late Major
Kingsmill, of 1st Royals, died in Toronto, 6th May, 1876, aged
82. Col. Kingsmill served in H. M. 66th Regiment, in the Penin-
sular War, and afterwards at St. Helena, during Napoleon’s
captivity. Subsequently in command of 3rd Int. Corps, Batt. of
U, Canadian Militia, and was Skeriff of the Niagara District. He
was a gallant soldier.”

The Kingsmill’s must have been a military family, as in the
church are two tablets to the sons of Col. Kingsmill, dying in
places far distant, and a grandson is now in the Royal Navy,

—~ *‘In memoriam Capt. W. D. Kingsmill, of R, C. Regt., born
at St. Helena, 1818. Lieut, C. E. Kingsmlll, of Ceylon Rifle
Regt., died at Hong Kong,” .

Near this is an inscription in Latin to his wife by one who
was an old U, Canada College boy :

In Memoriam

Liviniae
Nicol Kingsmill Uxoris
Quae

In hac parcchia
Prid . non . Aug.
A.D.,,M.D.C.C.C.X.C,V.
De Hac Vita Decessic
Annos X.L.V. Nata
Dilectissima,

In an enclosure facing the River is a stone with coat of arms
and the motto, Denique Calum.

“Robert Melville, Capt, H. M. 68th Regt., died 18435.”

Also a stone to a son of Capt. Schonsuar, 1st Dragoon
Guards,



Where so many military are buried there seems to have been
some plan followed, as grouped near one another are soldiers of
R. C. Rifles, again of 76th Regt., and in ‘another spot of King’s
Dragoon Guards. ; :

“Sacred to the memory of Thomas Easton, late trumpeter
H. M. Royal Artillery Drivers, who departed this life Feb. 24th,
1832, aged 56 years.

Here lies within this silent grave,
A Royal soldier, brisk and brave,
Who suddenly was cal ed away,
From off this sodden foot of clay.”

“‘Sacred to the memory of William Jolliffe and John Midgley,
aged 20 and 21 respectively, who died July 17th 1825.  They be-
longed to the band of the 76th Regt., and were universally beloved
and regretted by their comrades.”

Near this lies an old Waterloo veteran who for maay years
rode round the town decorated with his medals on the anniversary
of the battle, 18th June *‘Thos. Fletcher of the 76th Regt., died
in 1847.”

“Capt. Jas. Baxter, late 68th Regt., and Royal Canadian
Rifle Regt., died Feb. 28th, 1865, aged 67 years.”

A romantic story is attached to the name of one born in far
Greece, but then, alas, Greece enslaved by the savage Turk,

*‘In memory of Katherina Haideen, a native of Missolonghi,
Greece, wife of Frederick Paffard, born 1823, died at Niagara,
1883.” :

As a child, a captive with the Turks, she attracted the com-
passion of an English gentleman, who bought her freedom, and
educated her in England as his owa.  This story recalls the fact
that at a school in Niagara a collection was taken up to assist the
Greeks in 1827, the year of the battle of Navarino.

In the east corner of the church is a tablet

**Sacred to the memory of Hennetta Eliza Sewell, wife of F,
J. Lundy, B. C. L., assistant minister of this parish, and daugh-
ter of the Hon. Jonathan Sewell, D. C. L., late Chief Justice of
Lower Canada, died 1847, aged 39.”

On the outside wall. {

“Anne, consort of Capt. Chas. Paynter, daughter of Sir
Robert Ruthven, Bart., died 1836, aged 32.”

The body lies inside of the new part of this church, east side,
parallel with and 914 feet from the corner of the old wall.”

., ‘“‘Capt. Geo, Deare, R. C. R., eldest son of the late Lieut.
Col. Deare, 8th Hussars, whe died at Niagara, 1815, aged 32

’
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years. This tablet is erected by his brother officers as a testimony
of esteem and regard.”

From a tablet in the church we learn that others besides Gen.
Brock were buried at Fort George.

““Donald Campbell, Islay, Argyleshire, Fort Major of Fort
George, died 1st Dec:, 1822,  Interred on west side of Garrison
Gate, Fort George.” =

A handsome tablet commemorates another Peninsular War
veteran,

‘“Sacred to the memory of Lieut. Col. Wm. Elliot, K. B. of
the R. C. Rifle Regt., Colonel commandir.g Niagara frontier, who
died ‘at Niagara, Dec. 17th, 1845, aged 53 years. 39 years of his
life were devoted to his country, he having served in most of the
glotious victories of the Peninsular War.  This tablet is erected
by the officers of the Royal C. Rifle Regt., as a memorial of affec-
tion and of sincere regret for his lamented death.”

On the outer wall, the sons-in-law of Rev. R. Addison are
remembered.

“John Andrew Stevenson, born in Dublin, 1790, died at
Oakwood, near Niagara, 1832.”

A letter has been lately found writien to his father-in-law,
Mr. Addison, after tte disastrous battle of Chippawa

“‘George Connolly, born in Dublin 1784, died at Lake Lodge,
near Niagara, 1857,

~ *In memory of Richard Hiscott bcrn in Wiltshire, Englard,
1790, died at Niagara, Canada, 1874. Deservedly esteemed both
as a citizen and a soldier. In early life he served with honour in
H. M. 76th Regt., of foot and was in many battles of the Peuin-
sular War and in Canada. He settled in Niagara, where a large
ﬁfamily of his decendants and numerous triends lament his death.”

Two beautitul mural tablets in the transept read thus :

“‘In memory of the Hon. Robert Dickson, of Woodlawn,
Niagara, member of the Le,rislative Council of Canada, who died
at Leghorn, Italy, 1846, aged 50. This tablet is erected by her
who fondly cherishas the recollection of those endearing qualitias
which were so long the solace of her lite and who mourns her
loss with a hope full of consolation.”

T'he mourning widow dying like her husband, far from home,
is commorated in fewer words.



“‘In memory of Jane Jones, relict of the Hon. Robt. Dickson,

ot Woodlawn, Niagara, who died at Montreal, 1854, aged 60
ears.”

7 In the graveyard is a memorial to the father of Hon. Robert
Dickson.

“In memory of the Hon., Wm, Dickson, of Woodlawn,
Niagara, born in Dumfries, Scotland. 1769, died at Niagara, Jan.
1st, 1846, and ot Charlotte Adiem, rife of Hon. Wm. Dickson,
born in Londor. England, 1771, died at Niagara, Jan. 1st 1826.”

This must have been she who lying ill in bed was carried out
and lay in the snow walching the destructicn of the house with its
library worth £600, the day the town was burat, her husband be-
ing a prisoner at Greenbush.

Length of service .seems to have been the rule here, for
besides the unique tact that in the huandred years of the church
history there were only three rectors, the parish clerk had a siill
longer term of office than the above average. On a small stone;

*“To the memory of John Wray, 50 years parish clerk of St,
Mark’s, who died at an advanced age Oct. 6th, 1846.”

In the church at the north end is a large tablet let in the wall
in memory of the first minister, whose circuit extended to Long
Point, York, Grimsby, etc.

*In memory of the Rev. Robt. Addison, first missionary in
this district of the Venerable the Society for the Propogation of
the Gospel in Foreign Ports. He commenced his labors in 1792,
which by the blessing of Divine Providence he was enabled to
continue for 37 years. Besides his stated services as minister of
St. Mark’s in the town he visited and officiated in different parts
of this and adjoining districts until other missionaries arrived.
He was born in Westmoreland, Eogland. Remember them
which have the rule over you."

Near this is a large tablet to the second Rector.

*‘In memory ot Rev. Thos. Creen, late Rector of Niagara,
born in Rathtriland, Ireland, Nov, zoth, 1799, died at Niagara,
Jan. 6th, 1864. ‘‘How beautiful upon the mountains are the feet
of him that bringeth good tidings that publisheth peace, Isaiah
52,7.” '

Mr. Creen was educated at Glasgow University, was a ripe
scholar and for several years taught the Grammar School. The
tablet was erected by old pupils, members of a private class.

One of the stained glass windows is in memory ot the third
Rector Rev. Wm. McMurray, D.D.,D.C.L.
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Another teacher and preacher is buried here though no stone
marks the grave, Rev. Jno. Burns, who was perhaps the first
teacher of the Grammar School founded in 1808, was a Presby-
terian minister and officiated in St. Aadrew’s Church and that of
Stamferd between 1805 and 1817. Indeed a sermon of his is in
existence, preached to encourage his people to defend their
country in the war of 1812.

Another teacher who alse took his place in fighting at Queen
ston Heights and wrote a history of the war of 1812, printed at
Niagara (now very rare,) was a captain jo the Royal Scots, David
Thomson. An educator in anotherline as an editor and publisher,
Mr. Andrew Heron, lies here, bis four wives beside him in an
enclosure between the two defaced stones previously mentioned.
The Gleaner newspaper published from "1817 to 1833 and many
books which he printed are his monument. He was the founder
Secretary Treasurer and Librarian of the Niuagara Library,
numbering 1000 volumes, which existed from 1800 to 1820, He
was also the Secretary and Treasurer of 3t. Andrew’s Church
for many years.

Many quaint and curious lines may be tound on the old
stones ; as to a child who died Mar. 2nd, 1802, aged 4 yea:s,
Ann Graham.

“My time is short ; the longer my rest
God called me heare because he thought it best

So weep not ; drie up your tears
Heare must i lie till Christ Apears.”

The exigencies of rhyme, rhythm and syntax are boldly met
and conquered, metaphors and similes, appropriate or not abound.

““The fairest flower that nature shews,
Sustains the sharpest doom,

His life was like a morning rose
That withers in its bloom.

Weep not mother for John is at rest
His sins fergot and in Heaven blest.,

“Sacred to the memiory of the two infant children of R. U.
Turney, chaplain to H. B. Majesty’s Forces and Jane his wite.”

Does this mean that he was chaplain to the Forces and [ane
his wife ? :

But verse is not yet exhausted. On the tombstone of two
children of Alexand:r McKee, dying in 1813, the following lines:
It is told that the father was a prisoner at Fort Niagara and was
allowed to come to the funeral. Losing his property when the
town was burnt he taught a classical school assisted by his wife,
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and both lie buried here beside their children.

“Ah here they lie as budding roses
Blasted before their bloom

Whose innocence did sweets disclose
Beyond that flower’s perfume.’”

*Dear as thou didst in modest worth excell,
Moere dear than in a daughter’s name farewell,
Farewell dear Maria ; but the hour is nigh
When if I’m worthy we shall meet on high
Then shall I say triumphant from the tomb
Come to thy mother’s arms dear Maria come.”’

Another :

Filial affection stronger than the grave
From Time’s obliterating hand to save
Erects this humble monument of stones
Over a father’sand a mother’s bones.”’

““He’s gone! No more his infant smiles

The smile of innocence shall dart

His power electric to expand

And warm a tender parent’s heart;

His lips which [ kissed are faded and cold

His hands which T clasped are covered with mould
His form which I clasped is crnmbled away

And soon by his side his weepers shall lay.

On the tombstone of a child, Mary Rogers, dying in 1812,

“God plants his flowers at any time
And plucks when he thinks proper
Then why should we repine?”’

William Grier aged 27, died in 1813, the son of John Grier,
a noted meichant.

Ye mourning friends as you pass by
This monument survey y

; . Learn ere your solemn hour draws nigh
To choose that better way.

Of ““Jane Cassady, the wife of John Whitten,” it is told - that
when a child she carried her younger brother on her back out to
Butler’s farm for safety the day the town was taken, 27th May,
1813. Who in this degenerate day deserves such praise as that
in the line given below?

““Here lies a3 much virture as could live.”’

“Man’s life what is it? Tis a flower
Looks fresh and dies within the hour.”
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These are all in the first decade of the century and torm a
contrast with the briet lines on two monuments of late years.

“The memory of a life nobly rendered is immortal.”’
“Laid here in faith, hopeand love all that is mortal of — .*?

A trace of the rude hand of war is here recorded.

‘‘Sacred to the memory ot Joha McFarland, a native "of
Paisley, Scotland. He was taken prisoner at the capture of Fort
George and escaped from Green Bush near the close of the war
1815. He returned to his place, Niagara, and finding his pro-
perty burnt up and destroyed by the enemy it enervated him so
much that he died in a few months after, in the 64th year of his
age'.’y

On a tombstone near the north corner appears Pope’s line,
and the epitaph is unique as describing a man who bhaa gained all
the wealth he desired. We all know the story of the ancient king
vainly searching the world for a happy man.

“An honest man’s the noblest work of God. In memory of
Archibald Cunningham, who was born in Soctland and resided
nearly 30 years in Canada. Having during half of that time by
Strict Integrity and by persevering Industry in the Paths of
Commerce acquired a competency equal to his Wishes he retired
to his Farm and there by a lite of Frugal Simplicity and disinter-
ested Benevolence he retained the affection of all his friends and
procured the respect ot all his Neighbours. These sentiments
evincing the Esteem of those who accompanied him through Life,
Have by them been engraven on this Monument. Erected by a
grateful and effectionate Friend, Ob. 215t Aug., 1804.”

A npaval hero, a beloved physician and a Methodist class
leader are thus commemorated.

“‘Sacred to the memory of Philip Hopkins Commander of H.
M. Cruiser Vandelsur, who departed this life July 11th, 1838,
aged 75.” . ;

¢“In loving memory of Robt. M. Wilson, M. D. who died at
Simcoe, May 31st, 1875. Their eyes shall behold the king in his
beauty, they shall behold the land that is very far off.”

(This was a favorite verse of the deceased.)
~ “Andrew Brady, born at Queenston Heights Aug. 1sth,
1789, died 1873.”



.. Maoy remember him— familiarly known as Father Brady.

A sad story is told on a cross inan enclosure with seven
graves of young men snatched from life suddenly.

“‘In affectionate remembrance of Robert C. Henderson, |. H.
Murray, C. E. Anderscn, Weir Anderson, Philips Braddon, C.
V., W. Vernon, Vincent H. Taylor, who were lost on 11th July,
1874, by the foundering of the Yacht Foam.”

One of the beautiful memorial windows is in memcry of a
merchant of the town, whose stately torm and handsome face
gave him the cognomen of “‘Lord John,” a friend of the celebrated
Mrs. Jameson and referred to in her life, “Jchn Lees Alma, 1890,
by his wife and daughters.” A daughter Emily was born at
Valparaiso, Chili, and this shows again from what distant lands
these inmates of ‘‘God's Acre hail as does the next inscription.

¢“Murray Powell, son of John Powell, Sub-Inspector of
Mounted Police, Victoria, Australia.”

Near this a noted lawyer of the town is commemorated by a
stately ivy covered monument.

" ¢Charles L.etham Hall Barrister at Law.”

Here lies buried Capt. Alexander Garrett of the Grenadiers,
who fought with Brock at Queenston Heights. On an old stone
with the name of John Emery 1813 the lines:

“Waken O Lord our drowsy sense
To walk this dangerous road

And if our souls are hurried hence
May they be found with God.”’

It is remarkable the number of retired clergy who lie buried
here as Rev. Henry Cottingham, Rev, Romaine Rolph, Rev. Peter
Roe, Rev. Matthew Ker, D.D., Rev. H. N. Philips, Rev. Canon
Arnold, Rev. Prof. Beavan.

The third rector is thus kept in memory as well as by the
beautiful memorial window.

“To the Glory of God and in memory of William McMurray
D.D., D.C.L., Archdeacon of Niagara and Rector of St. Mark’s
Parish tor 37 years. Born Sept. 19th, 1810, died May 1g9th,
1894. ‘Lord I have Joved the habitation of Thy house and the
place where Thine honor dwelleth’ Ps. 28. 8.”

Also to his first wife.

“‘Sacred to the memory of Charlotte Johnston wife of Rev.
Wm. McMurray, died 1871, aged 71.”

This was a sister of Mrs. Schoolcraft and daughter ot Chief
Johnston, an Irish gentleman of Sault Ste. Marie, referred to by
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Mrs. Jameson in her ‘‘Summer Rambles and Winter Studies” as
marrying an Indian maiden Ogeneboquah.

On a tablet in the Church to Amelia Baxter, widow of Dr.
McMurray, is found this praise

*“This woman was full of good works and almsdeeds which
she did.” Acts g. 36.

= Another has the name of Elizabeth, wife of Senator Plumb,
and daughter of Thomas C. Street.

-— Here too was buried Jean Jacques Rousseaux a native of
Paris, Interpreter to the Indian Chief, Joseph Brant, the great
Thyendanagea.

The eminent virtues of a child of nine are not often spoken
of.

“‘Sacred to the memory of Robert D. Wright son of the late
Chas. Wright of Niagara, who departed this life gth June, 1822,
aged g years and 7 mos.

Although I walk in Death’s dark vale
Yet will I fear no ill

For thou art with me ard thy rod
And staff me comfort still.

This stone was erected by David Thompson his stepfather,
as a memorial of his eminent virtues,”

The father, Charles Wright was one of the four who lie near,
killed 27th May 1813, and the stepfather who fought at Queen-
ston Heights and was afterwards a teacher in the town, lies near
without any stone to mark his grave.

A brass tablet in the church commemorates the centenary of
the church.

“To the glory of God! This tablet is erected by the congre-
gation of St, Mark’s Church, in gratetul commemoration of the
1ooth anniversary cf the foundation of this parish on the gth July,
1792. The nave of the church was built about 1807 and burned
during the war of 1812, the walls only remaining, It was restor-
ed in 1820 and enlarged to the present dimensionsin 1843.
During the century the living has been held by the following
incumbents. The Rev. Robert Addison 1792 to 1829; The Rev.
Thomas Cieen, 1829 to 1857; The Rev. William McMurray, D.
D., D.C.L., Archdeacon of Niagara, to the present time, assisted
since 1888 by the Rev. J. C, Garrett as curate in charge.”

From the archives of Canada it is pretty conclusively shown
that the church was built in 1802,



ST. ANDREW’S CEMETERY.

— 1n this enclosure where the first church was erected in the
town in 1794, none were buried till (833, the first to be interred
he who conducted the first Sunday Schoo! in the town is in
few words mentioned.

“‘Sacred to the memory cf John Crooks, died Mar. 31st,
1833, aged 36. A native of Gieenock, Seotland.”

He was the postmaster of the town whose benevolent deed to
prisoners in the jail confined for debt is meationed in papers of
that period, in sending firewood to them in the depth of winter.

Next this enclosure is one covered with fragrant lilies of the
valley., A small tablet in the wall has these words : ‘“The Minis-
ters’ Burying Place’” ‘‘For me to live is Christ and to die is
gain.” !

Singular to say, in the century of its history, no minister of
this church has been buried here, only a small mound that of an
intant of a day may be seen in the plot.

A few military heroes and several U.E. Loyalists found here
their last resting place, as : ¢

‘‘Sacred to the memory of Donald McDonald, of the 7g9th
Highlanders, died 1846.”

**Thos. Ferguson, Royal Canadian Rifles Regt., born in the
parish of Pithenwin, Fifeshire, Scotland, died 1852.
= Of one U.E. Lojalist buried heie the story is told that he was
when a child, a captive among the Indians for several years.

‘In memory of Jas. Cooper, born in Scotland, 1770, emigrat-
ed to America in 1774. died 1856 in his 86th year,

Elizabeth Hixon, his wife, born in the province of New
Jersey in 1773, emigrated to Canada in 1788, died 18553, aged 82.”

Descendants of Capt. Jacob Ball of Butler’s Rangers are
buried here, Wm, Ball and his son Robert N. Ball, both office
bearers in St. Andrew’s church.

- ‘‘John Eglesum, died 1851, aged g3.”

A skilful physician and surgeon, the brother of Prof. Camp-
bell of Edinburgh University, and who dying in Toronto wished
to be buried ‘‘as near old St. Andrew’s as possible,” is thus com-
memorated :

““In memory of Duncan Campbell, M,D., of Edinburgh, died
Feb. 4th, 1879, aged 68 years.”

A later grave is that of ‘‘John Majgribanks Lawder. for many
years judge of the County of Liocoln.” | One of the fathers of the
church, for fitty years was connected with it as an cffice bearer,
and was also an officer in the Lincoln Militia in 1812,

N
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“William Duff Miller. 1786-1859."”

A benefactor of the church who left a legacy of 4750 which
afterwards purchased the manse is thus remembered.

‘Sacred to the memory of Catharine Young, who dled 1840,
aged 67. Tkis tribute of regard is erected by the relatives of her
husband, jno Young, who was drowned in Lake Ontarlo, July
3oth, 1840.”

Dr. Whitelaw, a distinguished scholar who taught the Gram-
mar School both in Nlagara and Kingston, lies here, dying in
1830.

In the vestlbule is a mural tablet :

“*  “Sacred to the memory of John Young, Esq.. long a mer-
chant of Niagara. Returning home in pain and infirmity, he was
drowned ia Lake Ontario where his body rests awaiting the hour
when the sea shall give up her dead. In his last illness, concern-
ed for (he welfare of coming generations he ordained a bequest for
the perpetual maintenance ot divine ordinances in this church. He
met death July 29th, 1840, aged 73. ‘Pray for the peace of Jerus-
_alem, because of the house of the Lord I will seek thy good’.”

— From him Youngstown received its name.

Many names showing nationality are found here, as McFar-
land, McPherson, Davidson, Dawson. Logan, Swinton, Currie,
Forbes, Carnochan—Lachlan McPherson, who had tar passed the
fimit of the Psalmist, having attained his hundieth year.

The Centennial tablet reads thus :

*1794. 1894.

In grateful commemoration ot the one hundredth anniversary
of the organization ol *his congregation, this tablet is erected by
the members of St. Andrew’s Church, Niagara. The first build-
ing, begun in October 1794 and erected on this spot, was burnt in
the war of 1812-14, The congregation met in St. Andrew’s
school room on the north corner ot this block for some years.
The present church was built in 1831.  The miinisters have been
Rev. John Dun, Rev. John Young, Rev. Jno. Burns, Rev.
Thomas Fraser, Rev. Robt, McGill, D.D., Rev. John Cruick-
shank, D.D., Rev. J. B. Mowat, M.A., D D., Rev, Charles
Campbell, Rev. Wm. Cleland, Rev. J. W. Bell, M.A,, and the
present pastor Rev. N. Smith. :



ST. VINCENT de PAUL.

The church was tuilt in- 1834, previous to this St. Mark's
graveyard was used by all denominations  In the church is a
tablet with this inscription : S

“To the memory of Lieut. Adjt. Reginald McDonnell, Royal
Canadian Rifle Regt., who died at Niagara, C. W., on the zoth
Dec., 1851, aged 39 years. This tablet is erected by his brother
officers as a testimony of regard.” In the graveyard is a stone
with a similar inscription. In the enclosure of the McDougall
family is the grave of Col. M. McDougall, Treasurer of the united
counties of Lincoln, Welland and Haldimand for many years,
He fought at Lundy’s Lane and lay on the field all night being
reported as mortally wounded but recovered, carrying in his body
a bullet 1o his grave. In the Historical Room is the original
document authorizing Daniel McDougall to enlist men in
Glengarry to serve in the war, dated April 1813, E. McDonell,
Prescott.

Bishop McDonell who ministered to the Catholic regiment
from Glengarrv, Scotland, was often entertained at Col. Mc-
Dougall's in Niagara. The wife and her mother buried here
show the Scottish origin, McNabb and McDonell.

Near this enclosure lies buried one of the benevolent ladies of”
the town, whose kind face and ready smile are not forgotten,
Mrs. Stevenson. A letter in an old Niagara Gleaner of 1832,
tells of the time when debtors were imprisoned and of the kind-
ness of Mrs. Stevenson in sending comforts to prisoners.

A young and beloved priest Father Lynch lies here, his grave
kept covered with flowers by loving hands, Iu a distant corner is
a monument to mark the grave of Patrick Lawless, the fireman
ot the Steamer Zimmerman, burnt to death on board, the night of
Aug. 21st, 1863

Near this is a mark of filial affection. Father John Kennedy
has placed this inscription to the memory of his father.

“In memoriam Bernardi Kennedy, cujus anima ut Requiescat
in pace desiderantur fidelium suffragia mortuus est IV Kal
Decembris A,D. 1857 Anno Atatis suz 53, Grato animo filius
ejus Revendus Joannes P. Kennedy Presbyter. Hoc eregi
curavit,

BAPTIST (COLORED) CHURCH.

This church erected in 1829 by the exertions of John Oakley
who came to Fort George in 1814 and had charge of the Field
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Train Department, was remcved some time ago being no longer
used. At one time several hundred escaped slaves found shelter
under the British flag, and here are buried many of these dusky
Atricans but one white child was buried here in 1832 that of the
above mentioned John Oakley who was a teacher and preacher,

Here too is buried a hero whose name should not be for-
gotten though it is unrecorded in marble or granite. Herbert
Holmes, a teacher and exhorter who organized a band of colored
men of severa! hund-eds to surround the jail and prevent the
return of Mosely, an escaped slave from Kentucky, who was by
law ordered to be given up. The civil and military authorities
were called out soldiers, constables, sheriff, the Riot Act read.
The prisoner escaped but Holmes and Green were shot and lie
buried here, having given their lives to save their brother from
slavery. Were not they heroes indeed, and should not their
names be commemorated?

METHODIST GRAVEYARD.

This congregation is also a century old.

Here is found a monument to John Boyd who died here in
1885, aged 85. He had been a teacher in the Old Blue (Gram-
mat) School ot Toronto and was the fatherof Sir John Boyd,
whose son has given his life in  South Africa. Here are buiied
John Eedson and Salome Crane his wife of U. E. Loyalist birth
from Nova Scotia, Gecrge Varey who played the bass viol in the
church before the days of organs or melodeons.

Two old grey stones show burials here previous to any in St.
Andrew’s or St. Vincent de Paul.

“Sarah Laurence died 1825, aged 64. Gideon Howell died
1827, aged 22,

Here in the silent tomb b2neath this miry sod

Lies one who bore the Cross and trusted in his God
Farewell dear wife and friends and my dear little son
My work ie finished and the prize is won.”

FORT NIAGARA.

Two graveyards on the opposite side of the river. were visited
and here were found several inscriptions interesting to us.

In the military graveyard of Fort Niagara, that post which
has had such an eventful history, having been in the hands of
French, British, Indians, Americans, is found a singular trace of
the American occupation of Fort George in 1813. A young
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Frenchman, perhaps a son of one of those of that nationality who
helped the Thirteen Colonies to gain their independence,

“Ici repose Marie Vincent Boisaubin Lieutenant et adjutant
daus le regiment d’artillerie legere des Etats Unis, decede au
Fort George le 13aout 1813 a l'age de 22. ans Ami fidele, fils
tendre et sincere comment nons consoler d’une perte si severe,”

A monument bears this comprehensive inscription,

“Erected to the -memory of unknown soldiers and sailors of
the United States, killed in action or dying of wounds in this
vicinity during the war of 1812.”

Here were buried in the precincts of the fort but so far the
spot is unknown and unmarked, two British officers, killed at the _
taking of the fort, 25th July, 1759. In the diary of Sir William
Johnson, given in Stone’s life of that distinguished man are these
words : ‘‘Today buried Gen. Prideaux and Col. Johnson in the —
chapel with great form, I was the chief mourner.” Should not
some memorial be erected to these two British officers who died in
adding a page to Britain’s roll of fame ?

John Ross Robertson who has done so much to clear up
many pages of Canadian history has lately unearthed in England
a map showing the position of the chapel in what is now the
parade ground, and Peter A. Porter of Niagara Falls. N.Y., in an
article in the Buffalo Express, has reproduced this so that one
may almost pace off the distances and fix the spot. ‘

LEWISTON.

Here too in a beautiful well kept graveyard near the Presby-
terian church are traces of the contest of a century ago.

*‘In memory ot the high respect and esteem which Major-
General Stephen Van Rensselaer bore to Capt. George Nelson of
the VI U.S. Regiment of Infantry, who on the 13th Oct., 1812, in
the XXXVII year of his age fell in the attack upon Queenst’on
U.C.. this monument is erected, Feb. 22nd, 1813. 4

‘‘Here sleeps a soldier, here a brave man rests’

The following shows the influence of a wife over a husband :
**3acred to the memory of Nancy. consort of Fitz James
Hotchkis,

Nancy be thou my guide to point the road
That leads far hence to yonder blest abode.
Grant me her faith thou good thou great most high
Let me like Nancy live like Nancy die.” :

It is difficult now to know what crime committed by (reat
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Britain is referred to in the following lines.
“*In memory of Alexander Miller who died Oct. 13th, 1828,
aged 62, a native of Dundee, Scotland.”

Far from his country and hls native skies,

Here mouldering in the dust poor Miller lies.

He loved his country, loved that spot of earth

Which gave a Wallace, Bruce and Duncan barth,

But when that country dead to all but gain,

Bowed her base neck and hugged tho oppressed chain,
He viewed the approaching event with many a sigh,
tle crossed the wide waves and here untimely died.”’

Perhaps the Sutherland evictions are meant.
Of Miss Mary Attwater, who died in 18135, it is said.

““‘She needs no verse her virtues to record,
She lived an: died a servant of the Lord.”

Another stone has the startling question,
“‘See is gone, but where?”’

Another point in which the history of the two countries touch
isfound here. A broken tcmbstone tormerly upright, now lying
flat, is that of

**Ashbel Sage, born 1777, died 1855. He was the pilot and
.guide who conducted the American army to Queenston Heights in
the battle on the morning of the 13th October, 1813.”

There was formerly a daguerreotype of this veteran inserted
in the stone, but this has disappeared long since.

Here too, lie Thomas Hustler and his wife Catharine, charac-
ters used by the novelist Cooper in the Spy as Sergeant Hollister
and Be.ty Flannigan.

THE HAMILTON GRAVEYARD. ‘

TFhe Hamilton residence in Quesnston is a fine stone building
on an eminence having the old colonial pillars and the family
burying plot is on the property, surrounded by a low stone wall,
enclosing beautiful trees.

The Hon, Robert Hamilton, born in Scotland, and whose
name we find so often as entertaininug guests in Simcoe’s time,
died in 1809. agea —, and is buried here.  This spot has to us a
pathetic interest, since here for a year rested the remains of Ger.
Sir Isaac Brock and his brave young adjutant, McDonuell, who
were four times buried. First at Fort George where the bodies
lay for twelve years, till the first monument was erected at Queen-



o

ston Then when the shattered shaft was taken down, the bodies
were removed to the Hamilton buryiag plot till the vault of the
present monument,was ready in 1853.

One inscription reads :

**Sacred to the memory of Robert Hamilton. born at Fort
Niagara, 1787, died 1856. Mary Bigger, his wife, born at Dum-
tries, Scotland, 17go0."” !

Alexander Hamilton died in 1839, aged 45. This must have
been Sheriff Hamilton, whose death it is said was hastened by
the shock to his system from having to perform the office of
hangman at Niagara jail no hangman was to -be found and the
Sheriff according to law had himself to perform the revolting duty.
In an account of a prisoner confined in Niagara jail for his
share in the rebellion, this is confirmed. Ui

A large altar tomb commemorates a member of the well-
knowa Dickson family. He was a merchant.in Queenston and
carried on an extensive business there.

‘‘Sacred to the memory of Thomas Dickson, born in Dum-
fries, Scotland, who died in 1825, aged 50, also Eliza his wife,
died 1802.”

Here agaiu occurs an important name in the early history of
our country.

‘‘Hannah, wife ot Wm. Jarvis, Secretary of the Province of
U. C.,.died 1845, aged 84.

Shed not for her the bitter tear,
Nor give the heart to vain regret,
“I'is but the casket that lies here,
The gem that filled 1t sp.rkles yet.”

Another. ‘‘Robert Hamilton, lies here. born 1808, died 1868, ~

As the Hon. Robert Hamilton was married twice and had a
large family of eight sons, the tamily counection is large and
there are many names to be found here trom intermarriages, as
Tench, Duff, Durand, Mewburn, Gourlay. —

Here lies buried Capt. John Humphrey Tench, late of H.M.
87th and 61st Regts, who died Xmas. 1851, also Maria Tench,
wife of above, also Margaret Carruthers, widow of Major Car-
ruthers, late H.M. ssth Westmoreland Regt., and Katherine
Hamilton, wife of F. B. Tench, and Eliza Hamilton. wife of J. T.
Townsend.

The family name has been well preserved, as the city of
Hamilton thus derived its name, and the city of St. Catharines
was named in 1809 from Catharine, the second wife of Hon.
Robert Hamilton.  The Hon. John Hamilton’s residence, called
Glencairn, was about two miles below Queenston, while that of



Dr. Hamilton, another brother, was above the mountain. The
Hon. John Hami!ton, who has been called the father <f Canada’s
inland marine and was long honorably conunected with the ship-
ping of Lake Ontario is buried at Kingston.

BROCK’'S MONUMENT.

This noble shaft, says a late writer, is perhaps the finest
isolated column, all things considered, in the world, 200 ft high,
the height of the figure 17 ft., and the situation unsurpassed, com-
manding a view of river, lake and plain ; at some seasons of the
year the varied colors of brown ploughed land, purple vineyards,
the tender green of its wheat or brilliant crimson of the ‘*maple
forests ail aflame,” and the somber pine woods give the -ennuied
tourist at last a new experience,

The first monument was erected in 1824 and shattered with
a gunpowder explosion by the miscreant Lett in 1840, the present
begun in 1853 was finished in 1856. An immense meeting was
held in 1840 on the Heights to devise means to replace the monu-
ment destroyed, ten steamers bore representatives from Kingston,
Cobourg, Hamilton, Toronto, and ascended the riverin proces-
sion while cheering crowds on the bank showed their enthusiasm.
Eloquent speecees were made by distinguished men, nineteen
motions afforded opportunity to twice as many speakers as movers
and seconders. The first menument was erected by a grant from
the Provincial parliament, the present by voluntary contributions
of the militia and Indian warriors of the province. A grant from
Parliament was given to lay out the grounds. The armorial bear-
ings of the hero are supported by lions rampant seven feet in
height, the motto Vincit Veritas. On the north face the inscrip-
tion reads :

s*Upper Canada has dedicated this mooument to the memory
of the late

Major-GENERAL SIR Isaac Brock, K. B,,

Provincial Lieut. Governor and Commander of the forces in this
Province, whose remains are deposited in the vaults beneath.
Opposin the invading enemy he fell near these heights on the
13th October, 1812, in the 43rd year of his age, revered and
lamented by the people whom he governed and deplored by the
sovereign to whose services his life had been devoted.”

On a brass plate within the column is an 1nscription giving’
an account ot the different burials and on another a notice of
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Brock's brave A.D.C.

“In a vault beneath are dcposited the mortal remains of
Lieut. Col. John McDonnell, P.A. D.C., and Aid-de-Camp to the
lamented Major-General Slr Isaac Brock, K.B., who fell mortally
wounded in the battle of Queenston, on the 13th October, 1812,
and died the following day. His remains were removed and re-
interred with due solemnity on 13th Oct., 1853.”

ST. DAVIDS.

In the graveyard around the Methodist Church are many old
stones with no name, or the stones chipped so as to be undecipher-
able. The name which appears most frequently is that of
Woodruff, but the oldest date is Solomon Quick, who died in
1823, but many were buried here betore that date as St. Davids
had a mill in 1782, and the village was burnt by the Americans in
1814. Here is the grave of David Secord of whom many stories
of daring deeds are told in the Revolutionary War, and from
whom the village received its name.

== “In memory of Major David Secord, who died 1844, aged 85,/
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also Mary Page his wife,”

~ David Secord was a magistrate in 1796 and member of the
Legislative Assembly, UC., in 1811. His claim for compensation
tfor property burnt in the war was nearly 45000 as he owned
many bulldings. He was a Sergeant iu Butler’s Rangers and
fought in the Revolutionary War.

- Ezekiel Woodruff died in 1837, aged 73, and Samuel Wood-
ruff in 1824. Richard Woodruff, born in 1784, died in 1872, was
a member of Parhament. His daughter is thus commemorated,
recalling the name of a celebrated railway king.

““In memory of Margaret Ann, wife of Samuel Zimmerman,
daughter of Richard Woodruff, died 1851, aged 23.”

John Baptist Clement, died in 1833, and Mary Secord, wife
of Wm. A. Woodruff, born 1818, died 1895.  An old sfone has’
an inscription almost destitute of capital letters.

“‘Jane wife of John Prest, queenston late a native of senning-
ton yorkshire England died in 1831.” ,

A monunent near the church to Ursen Harvey, born in 1800,
has also the names of his two wives, Esther znd Caroline.  Mr.
Harvey was the father of Mrs. J. G. Currie, who has given us the
life of Laura Ingerscll Secord and so many interesting reminiscen-
ces of St. Davids’ old settlers.

The names of Wadsworth, Clement, Crysler and Clyde occur
frequently.  Many of these early settlers lived to a great age as



William Crysler, died 1824, aged 92, Anne Clement Woodruff,
born 1788, died 1878, aged go years, while Richard Woodruff,
her husband, died 1872, aged 88. Major Adam Brown, of
Queenston died 1874. aged 76.  Col. Joseph Clement, died 1867,
aged 76, and his wifc aged 80. Maria Dewy, relict of the late
Deacon Jacob Beam. died 1881, aged 88 vears.

The name Secord is found trequently, as Azubah Hutt, wife of
Philip Secord, aged 79. Riall Secotd, evidently named from Gen.
Riall of Lundy’s Lane tame. Many rough unshaped stones with-
out letter or figure tell of those troublous times when the
exigencies of war or retugee privations prevented thé elaborate
epitaphs of another period.

WARNER’S GRAVEYARD.

In the Warner family plot about two miles from St. Davids,
are tound the names of many U.E. Loyallsts. = Here again the
surtace lettering in the old stones is chipped off. There is a
small frame church, now unused, which replaced an older one.
built in 1801, the first Methodist church in the peninsula. A
stone wall had surrounded the enclosure the remains of which fnay
yet be seen. One of the oldest stones is that to Stephen Secord,
who died in 1808, aged 45. We find from early records that in
the census taken by Col. John Butler at Niagara in 1783, the
name Secord occurs more frequeutly than any other as Peter,

= John, James, Thomas. Stephen. In Butler’'s Rangers thete were
seven Secords and the Stephen Secord buried here was one of
these. William E. Secord died in 1881, aged 83. We

= know from other records that John Secord was living near
Niagara in 1782, and that the first white child born there
was Daniel Secord.  William Van Every died in 1832. aged 67,
and Elizabeth, his wife, born Dec. 1764, died in 1857. A pathetic
story is told of members of the Van Every family and others in
Ryérson’s U E. Loyalists.

Several German names occur as :

*“In memory of Dinah, wife of jacob Hostetter, second
daughter of Joseph and Mary Van Every.”

And neac this a stone to Margaret Clow, wife of Daniel
Ostrander, died 1824. v

“In memory of Nancy, wife of Malum Swayze, born 1800,
died 1828.”

The christian names Lons aud Charity, Asel and Christian,
Peter, Stephen and David, frequently occur,

James Durham dying in 1832 attained the ripe age of 8s.



In a square enciosed by a brick and stone wall are three old
grey monumental stones, one to Jemima Hill who died in 1817,
aged 18, another to ‘‘ Mary Margaret, Dutelt, relict of the late
Joseph Clement, aied 1845, aged 80.”

Another stone and iron enclosure has an old grey double
stone to two children of Robert and Margaret McKinley, who
died in 1811 and 1813 respectively.

A monument to Margaret A. Berninger, wite of Robert Mc-
Kinley, born 1769, died :860, aged g1.

The name Warner occuis again and again, and here are also
besides those mentioned, Cain, Collard, etc, Christian Warner
and Joseph Van Every were born here in 18o0q.

The first Methodist class-meeting in this district met at the
house of Christian Warner 1788 and the church was built in
18071. ;

HOMER OR TEN MILE CREEK.

Two miles from St. Catharines is an old graveyard where
were buried many of the U.E. Loyalists. Six stately elms stand
in a line at one side while one lies prone near them.

How few of those who tell when Niagara was captured 27th
May, 1813, have their names in consecrated ground, but here
unexpectedly we find the name of one.

¢ Erected in memory of George Grass who was killed in ‘the
battle of Fort George, May 27th, 1813, aged 24 years.”

A tablet in St. Mark’s, Niagara, gives the names of four, the
stone at Chautauqua marks the burial place of three unknown
British soldiers who fell in that battle. and this of George Grass is
the only other one we know.

Here are found the names of many of the Secord tamily as—

*“In memory of Solomon Secord, late Lieut. in Butler’s Corps
of Rangers, who departed this lite Jan. 22, 1799, aged 43 years.”

A large altar tomb has the inscription—

“Capt - Jacob Ball, died July 24th, 1820, aged 43 vears.”

Another beside it—

‘¢ Elizabeth, wife ot Jacob Ball, born 1790, died 1862.”

We find from early records that Jacob Ball, the father, came in
1782 with his three sons, Peter, Jacob and John. A fourth son,
George, came in 1784. They received a grant of land of 1,000
acres and there is still in possession of the Ball family in the town-
ship, 750 acres. : -

The names ot Stull and Goring, Secord, Ball and Schram
occur again and again and the fondness for scripture names of__
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the Puritans is shewn as Seth and Charity, Solomon, David and
Jacob. Very often a verse with halting rhyme, ‘metre or syntax
_ closes the inscription.’ ‘A double stone is divided perpendicularly
for two inscriptions to husband and wife, a young couple aged 24
and 37 respectively, Below the words :—

*“ As God together did us join,

So He did part us for a tume,

But now we both together lies

Till Christ shall call us to arise.’

Very few give the place of birth but those given are far dis-
tant as Yorkshire, Nova Scotia, Vermaont.

“In memory of George Read, who was born at Brenton, io
Yorkshire, England, 1763, and came to  New York in 1773, to
Canada in 1784, and departed this life Feb. 1834

1784 was we know the year of the coming of the U. E.
Loyalists.

“In memory of Margaret, wife of Col. Peter Hare, and for-
merly wife ‘of Lieut.:Solomon Secord, died 18575, aged 87 years.
Erected by Mrs. R.-Herery, - My mother’s grave.”

ST GEORGE’S CHURCH, ST. CATHARINES.

This is an old cemetery, we know of one at least buried here
in 1812, but many bodies have been removed to the new cemetery,
_ but we still find. traces of. many of the early settlers. In the life
~ of Hon. Wm. Hamilton Merritt is frequently menticned Shipman’s
Corners, (near St. Catharines) and here is the name of its founder.

fn memory of Paul Shipman, born 1736, died 1823, aged
69 years.’

Erom him St. Paul’s street was named.

Here is also the record of the father of the projector of the
_ Welland Canal.

“In memory of Thomas Merritt, Esq., Cornet of the Queen’s
Rangers.under Col. Simcoe during -the American ‘Revolution, and
Major commanding the cavalry on this frontier in the war of 1812.
Appointed Surveyor of Woods and Forests on 2oth May, 1800,
and Sheriff of the Niagara District. 5th October 1803. Depart-
_ed this life r2th May, 1842, aged 83.”

The next inscription. brings up: the thought of the heroine,
Laura. [ngersoll Secord.

“Iu memory of Maria, relict of the late Charles Ingersoll, of
Ingersoll, second. daughter of Thos. and Marry Merritt, died
1850.”



It is sometimes forgotton-that the. town of Ingersoll was
named after Charles Ingersoll.

In the journal of W. H. Merritt the name of his: wife’s father
and mother frequently occur.

*+ % In memory ot Penelope, wife of Dr. J. Prendergast,:born
1774, in South Kingston, state of Rhode Island, died at the resi-
dence of her son-in-law, William Hamilton Merritt."”

“To the memory of Jedidiah Prendergast, M.D.,: whouwas
born ‘in Duchess County, N Y., died at his residence in Mayville,
1848.”

X This name occurs as one of the proprietors of th= ~Niagara
Library of 1800—1820. - He then lived at Youogstown, N.Y.. A
large monument has this short inscription :—
= | *“Commodore ‘Job Northtop, a rative of Woodbridge, Ct.,
born 1787, died 1833. He was noble: hearted, generous .and
humane.”

The monument was brought all the way from New Haven,
Ct. In the memoir of Hon. W. H. Merritt, “Com., Northrop, is
mentioned as generous and even lavish, driving fast horses, giving
good dinners, spending money prodigally. « Employed in the
Bolivian service, on his return. his role-seemed to be to spend
money. When his horses ran away the vehicle was given to the
finder, and to his daughter after playing ‘a tune on the piano, a
bank note was often giveo.

.- “Sacred to the memory of the late Reverend Lewis. Williams,
a native of Hallan Carmaerthanshire, South. Wales, England, who
labored a faithful minister and servant of God at this. place for
several years, departed this life 26th Sept. :1822, in his 63rd year
much lamented.”

** Here lieth the body of the: Rev. Richard Lyons McArthur,
M. A., Trinity College, Dublin, ‘and for some months curate of St.
George’s church in-this town, departed this life 1857.’

7  Caroline; daughter ot James and Caroline Gordan, died
1814."

** In memory ot Sarah, widow of Wm. Dummer Powell, died
1834, aged 34.”

This must-have been the wife of W. D. Powell, the lawyer of
Queenston and one of the ten who formed - the first Law Society
in 1797,in U, Canada. ' From a letter in-the possession of the
Niagara Historical Society from Queenston, 1801, to Robert
Nelles, 40 Mile Creek {now Grimsby) we learn that the couple had
eloped and driven all the way to Niagara to be married by Rev. R.
Addison, and the letter written to thank Col. and. Mrs. Nelles for
their help, also speaks of the fatiguing ride to Niagara.



ST. CATHARINES CEMETERY-

To this comparatively modern cemetery many bodies have
been brought from private graveyards, or others being destrayed
by the march of improvement. On an old grey stone may be
read.

“In memory of Mrs. Hannah Frey, widow of the late Capt.
Bernard Frey who died 1834, aged 76,”

On another close by, a well-known incident of the war of
1812 is recorded. y

“Sacred to the memory of Capt. B. Frey, of his Majesty’s
late Corps of Butler’s Rangers, who was killed by a cannon shot
at Niagara, 22nd day of November, 1812, aged 58.”

The story is that he had picked up a cannon ball from the
street and was carrying it under his arm when a spent ball {rom
Fort Niagara struck that under his arm and he died in conse-
queace, but without a wound. Part of the Frey family remained
in the U.S., while this member preferred to join the U.E.L.’s in
Canada.

Some well-known names follow, as

“In memory of Stephen A. Secord died 1884, aged 83.”

~ Samuel Street died at Thorold 18,,4 aged 62.

~ ¢ Sarah Street beloved wife ot ]ohn Gustavus Stevenson,
died 1861, aged 37.”

“In memory of Sarah Ingersoll, wife of Henry Mlttleberder,
born 1807, died 1826.
~ “In memory of William Street Servos, born 1787, died 1857,
and Catharine Ball his wife, born 1790, died 1875.”
~  The bodies of the last two were removed from the Servos
burying ground when the farm was sold.

An unpretentious stone records the projector of the ‘Welland
canal ; that monument to his energy and foresight is quite near.
~ «Hon. Wm. Hamilton Merritt, born july 3rd, 1793, died
July 7th, 1862.”

“Catharine Rodman Prendergast, beloved wife of Hon. W.
H. Merritt, born 1793. died Jan 1o0th, 1862.”

It is remarkable that husband and wife were born in the same
year and died in the same year.
= Hon. W. H. Merritt was Captain of Dragocns raised in the

- war of 1812,was taken prisoner at Lundy’s Laue and was not re-
~leased till the close of the war.

Two “beloved physicians” rest here.

*“ Theophulus Mack, M.D., died 1881, aged 61. The wise
beloved ghysician, the faithful friend of the poor and suffering, he



LA

met death in conscious serenity, trusting with undoubting faith in
the promises of the Redeemer. ‘And I heard a voice write bless-
ed are the dead.’”

On the other side “Galea Spes sa lu tis,’

“In memory of Chas, Rolls, born at Prmes Maston, War-
wickshire, England, 1783, died 1867, also Henry Rolls, M.D.,
1814-1887.”. |

A monument to the father of Dr. Clark, who preserves the
manuscript journal kept by his tather Col. Clark from which have
been gleaned many interesting particulars of early life in this

_province, -
_ “In memory of Lieut. Col, John Clarh, Canada Militia, born at
Kingston, U.C., 1786 died at Walnut dale farm, Grantham, C.W.,
1862, also his wife Sarah Adams, born at Queenston, U.C., 17¢1.
died 1864.”

A large enclosure is sacred to the families of St. John and
Phelps as Lois St. John, wife of Samuel St. Jobn, mother of
Abigail Phelps, of Kent, Conn., born 1756, died 1849, aged 93.”

“Orton Stone Phelps, 1812-1837, and Oliver Phelps of Conn.,
born 1779, died 1851.”

A large vault has the name of Thos. Burns, the son of Rev.
Jno, Burns, minister of Niagara and Stamford. Ancther has that
of Richard Miller, Q C. E

TURNEY GRAVEYARD,

About two miles from St. Catharines lie the remuains of this
family in which there were two tamous souldiers, although here
their names are not recorded.  Particulars of the first are found
in 4 memorial in the Canadian Archives,

*‘John Turney, Lieutenant in Butler’s Rangers, born in Co.
Dcwn, lreldnd, 1744, enlisted in King's 8th Regt., served as
sergeant in Germany and Ameru.a. and promoted to Butler's
Rangers.”  In his memorial giving his services he says : “They
(the Rangers) were Britons and the descsndants of Britons
and trained to arms, determined to transmit to posterity the rights
that are dear to man, or nobly perish in the defence of our King,
and God who never forqakes his people brought us through many
dangers and trials.”

His son, Capt. George Turney, of the 2ad Lincoln Militia, was
killed at the battle of Chippawa, sth July, 1814, that day so disas-
trous to our forces. The name was originally written Torney.



STAMFORD PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH.

The Presbyterian Church of Stamford was organized over a
century ago, but unfortunately the early records are not complete,
One of the oldest zraves has this inscription :

“Tn memory of Leah, consort of John Rowe, who departed
this life Sept. sth, 1793, aged 25 years.” =

John Rowe must apparently have soon taken another help-
mate who also died young.

t In memory of Mary, consort of John Rowe, who departed this
life Mar. 4th, 1797, aged 22 years”

Capt. John Rowe, 2nd Lincoln Militia, was killed at Chippa-
wa, 5th July 1814, and was formerly a sergeant in Butler’s Rangers.

* The following shows not only the early settlement of Stam-
ford township but the strength of the bond between master and
servant in those early days as shown by fifty years of service.

“In memory of Samuel Montgomery, who departed this life
28th October, 1838, in the 87th year of his age. He was a native
ot County Down, Ireland, and emigrated to America in the year
1768, and settled in Stamtord, district o Niagara in 1488, in the
family of the late Aichibald Thomson, where he resided till his
deeth.”

Another tombstone tells of James Thomson, a native of
Roxburgh, Scotland, who settled in Stamtord in 1783, dying in
1831, aged eighty.  The epitaphs of eighty years ago sometimes
show an originality in orthography and syntax as

“In memory of Susauna McMicking who departed this life
Sept. 11th 1821, aged 30 years.

Epetaf S. U.
Underneath thisstone doth ly
As much beauty as could die
Which when alive did vigger give
To as much virtue as could live.”

—  “In memory of Thomas McMickinz, who was born Apri
11th, 1750, died Feb. 11th, 1830, in the 8oth year of his age.
Stop passenger upon the road
Dont overlook this shrine
For if thou art a friend of God
Here lies a friend of thine.”

“In memory of James Middaugh, who departed this life June
1839, aged 79 years.



farewell my wife my

. life is past—my love to
you so long did last. but
now no sorrow for me
take, belove my children
for my sake.”

Here is another mosaic of History :

“Sacred to the memory of Daniel Keith, who died 28th Aug.
1824. by a fali from General Sir Isaac Brock’s monument, aged
2_.”

? The tragedy recorded above must have occurred during the
erection of the first monument,

“In memory of Captain Giles Hall who departed this life Nov,
2nd, 1816, aged 67.”

No doubt a veteran of the war of 1812, and the next a U. E.
Leyalist.

_ ““In memory of Dorothy, wife of Abraham Vrooman, Senior,
who was born in the State of New Jersey, April 16th, 1768. and
died Oct. 12th, 1820, aged 52.”

— To Andrew Murray who died on the Atlantic.

“In memory of a loved one

‘W ho was both true and kind,
For health upon the ocean
He sought but could not find *?

The faithful pastor for almost thirty vears is thus commemor-
ated.
== *“‘In memory of the Rev. John Russell, D.D., pastor of the
Associate Presbytenan congregation of Stamlord, who died Mar.
3rd, 1854, in the 58th year of his age, and 28th of his ministry.
‘After he had served this generation by the will of God he fell on
sleep’ ; ‘Be thou faithful unto death and I will give thee a crown
of lite.’

Requiescat in Pace.”

This congre,ration is believed to be the only one in Canada of
the kind and isin connection with churches of the U.S. In the
Session book it is called the Associate Presbyterian Society,

ST. JOHN’S ANGLICAN CHURCH.

This church was built in Stamford in 1825 when Sit Peregrire
Maitland had his residence in this beautiful spot, an ideal English
village, its village green. <till sacred to tootball and other games,

—it is said was laid out by the Governor.  The records of the
church as kept by Rev, Wm. Leeming from 1818 to 1837, are



UV s

complete. None of the inscriptions are so old as those of the
Shurch nearly opposite, as 1833 was the oldest date tcund here.

Here is another bit of history of a later date, that of the
Fenian Raid of 1866.

““Pro Patria ac Regina

John Herriman Mewburn, Toronto University Rifles, z2nd
Battalion, Queen’s Own, only son of Harmon Chiltern Mewburn,
killed at Limeridge, June 2nd, 1866, fighting in defence of his na-
tive land against Fenian invaders, aged 21 years.”

This the son of Dr. Mewburn with other students went from
Examination Halls, The University Company lost most heavily,
three of the number giving up their young lives, Mewburn, Mc-
Kenzie, Tempest.
~ *‘In memory of the Hon. Jacob Zmelius Irving of Ironshore,
Jamaica, a member ot the Legislative Council of the Province of
Canada, and formerly of the 13th Light Dragoons, was wounded
at Waterloo, born 1797, died at Drummondville, 1856.”

His widow died in her g1st year. We are told in a late
paper of his fine literary taste, histronic skill and fine baritone
voice. Drove four-in-hand from Bonshaw on Yonge st, He was
the son of Paulus AEmelius Irving, who was at the capture of
Quebec.

il Another military man is buried here.

“In memory of Matthew Ottley who died in 1845, in his 72nd
year. His early life was spent in H. M. Service 23 years as Pay-
master cf the 82nd Regt.. came to Canada in 1827.

*“Sacred to the memory of Andrew Ruback, born in New
Jersey. Lieut.-Col. of 2nd Lincoln Regt., died at Stamtord 1843.”

*‘In memory of Richard, son of late Rev. Bearmont Dixie,
Rector of St. Peter’s Derby, brother of the late Baronet of that
name, born 1782, died 1834.’

‘‘In memory of Robert H. Dee, who died in 1833.”

There are in the church five memorial windows; principally to
the families of Dee and Mewburn. .

LUNDY’S LANE:

What memories cluster round this spot! The scene of a bat-
tle the most stubbornly contested in the war of 1812, a burial
ground betore that date and now here stands a stately monument,
an obelisk erected at a cost of $5,000 by the Dominion Govern-
ment, from the persistent efforts of the Lundy’s Laae Historical
Society, headed by the Rev. Canon Bull as President, and James
Wilson, Secretary. The inscription reads :



‘‘Erected by the Canadian Parliament in honor of the victory
gained on 25th July, 1814, by the British and Canadian forces, and
in grateful remembrance of the brave mes who died on the field of
battle fighting for the Unity o: the British Empire.”

Close by is a beautiful church, built by the munificent gift of
the late Wm. Lowell, the roar of Niagara’s torrent lending its
voice as an everlasting requiem to those who lie here on Drum-
mond’s Hill. Why has the name of the village been changed
from Drummondville to Niagara Falls South, making the confu-
sion of names only more confounded? To this neglected grave-
vard, that of the village and not of the church, at one time weed
grown, with thorns and briars contesting for supremacy, pernaps is
due much of the historical work done in the last twodecades of years.
Rev.Canon Bull and Mr. Fenwick, High School teacher, formed an
Historical Society and commenced with the work nearest at hand,
putting in order the grounds.  Meetings were held, the public
interested. bistorical pamphlets written, Parliament petitioned, till
at last the monument was erected, and in the ault lie the re-
mains of several officers and mén which have been re-interred with
fitting honors.  How different now the scene from that night
wheo men came from the harvest field to help on that field of
blood where the next day a funeral piie of the dead was consumed
in smoke and flame. +And here on this battle fleld let military
heroes have precedence.

“Sacred to the memory of Lieut. Col. the Hon. Cecil Bishopp
18t Foot Guards and inspecting officer in U, C., eldest and only
surviving son of Sir Cecil Bishopp, Bart, Baron de la Zonche in
Eungland. After baving served with distinction in the British
army in Holland, Spain and Portugal, hedied on the 16th July,
1813, in consequence of wounds received in action with the enemy
at Black Rock. the 13th of the same month, to the great grief of
his tamily and friends, and is buried here. = This tomb erected at
the time by his brother officers, becoming very much dilapidated,
is now, 1816, renewed by his affectionate sisters, the Baroness de-
la Zonche and the Hon. Mrs. Peckell in memorial of an excellent
man and beloved brother.”

“To the memorv oi Lieut Col. Gordon and Capt. Torrens of
the Royals, killed at Fort Erie during the campaign of 1814.
Erected by Major Barry Fox, late of said Regt., their friend and
companion, June 2oth, 1851.”

Here must have been a real friendship after nearly forty years,
showing the falsity of Swinbume’sl line.

“What love was ever as deep as the grave ?



“Sacred to the memory of Robert Dossie Patterson, Captain
in the 6th Regt. of Infantry Royal 1st Warinckshire, who after
serving uunder Sir John Moore and the Duke of Wellington,
throughout the Peninsular War, fell betore Fort Erie at the age of
26, Sept. 17th, 1814.”

Sacred to the memory ot Lieut. Wm. Hemphill, of the Roy-
als who fell at the battle of Lundy’s Lane on the 25th July, 1814.
This stone was placed by his son Lieut.-Col Hemphill, of the
26th Cameronians, July 17th, 1854.”

So tar as known there is ouly one American buried here
but i their nameless graves lie here peacefully those who fought
as foes that hot July day alternately holding the hill till midnight,
when our men were left in possessioa.

“Here lies the body of Abraham E Hull, Captain in the gth
Regt. of U. S. Inrantry, who fell near this spot in the battle of
Bridgewater, July 25th, 1814, aged 28 years.”

Here was a large gathering to witness the ceremony of re-
interring the remains of American soldizrs, and the uaoique
spectacleot this international funeral, for.both U. S. and Canadian
soldiers took part. The insciiption reads. *‘The remains of nine
soldiers of the gth Regiment of United States Infantry. Killed
at Lundv's Lanz, July 25th, 1814, Re-interred Oct, 19th 1901.”

In American histories the battle of Lundy’s Lane is ¢alled
Bridgewater.

“In memory of Philip Chesman Delatre, late Iieut. Col in
the British army, born 1777, died 1848.”

*‘In memory ot Major Richard Leonard, formerly of H. M.
104th Lt. Infantry, who died Oct. 1833.”

“In memory of Alex. Ross No. 2. Co. 93rd Highlanders, who
died 11th Oct. 1846, aged 24 years This monument is erected
by his comrades as a token of their respect.”

**Sacred to the memory of Duncan Elphinstone Todd Esq.,
late a Captain in Her Majesty’s 37th Regt. of fcot who died Oct.
1837, aged 30 years.”

Another page of history is unrolled by the two following in-
scriptions referring to two on opposite sides, each illtreated in the
troublous times of misrule leading to or during the Rebellion.
<  “In memory of Robert Randall Esq., M.P.P., the victim of
Colonial Misrule, who died May 2nd, 1834, aged 66 years.”
= In Lindsay’s life of W. L. McKenzie in an impassioned
speech occurs the name of Randall as a victim.

— *:Here rests in the hope of a joyful resurrection the mortal
remains of Edgeworth Ussher Esq., whose devotion to his sover-
eign and exertions in the cause of his country at a critical period




LAURA SECORD’S MONUMENT,
LUNDY’S LANE.






in the history of Canada marked him out as an object of the
vengance of the enemies of peace and good order by whom he was
cruelly assassinated on the night of the 16th Nov., 1838, in his
own house near Chippewa, at the early age of 34 years, leaving a
wite and four children to mourn their irreparable loss.”
i But are there no inscriptions to the mothers of our land?
First let us give that on an unpretentlous stone, but which none
the less records the name of a heroine indeed.—Laura Secord,
who, when Niagara was in the hands ot the Americans and a force
was sent to Beaverdams to cut off our small force there, walked
nineteen miles through mud and mire, in danger from marauders,
red or white, wild beasts as well, to give warning, and thus helped
to briag about the surrender ot the attacking force. These simple
words—no more, were all that marked till lately the heroine’s grave,

“Here rests Laura Secord. beloved wife of James 3ecord,
died Oct. 57th, 1868. aged g3 years.’

But in the summer of 1901 was unveiled a bronze bust on a
stone pedestal with an inscription that tells the story.

“To perpetuate the name and fame of Laura Secord, who on
the 23rd ot June, 1813, walked alone nearlv twenty miles by a
circuitous, difficult and perilous route through woods and swamps
over miry roads, to warn a British. outpost at De Cew’s Falls of
an intended attack and thereby enabled Lieu'enant FitzGibboun on
the 24th June, 1813, with less than fifty men of Her Majesty’s
49th Regiment, about 55 militiamen and a similar force of six
nations and other [ndians under Captains William Johnson, Kerr
and Dominique Ducharme to surprise and attack the enemy at
Beachwood or Beaver Dams, and after a short engagement to
capture Col. Boerstler, of the U. S. Army and his entire force of
542 men with two field pieces. This monument erected by the
Ontario Historical Society trom contributions of schools, societies,
Her Majesty’s 49th Regiment, other militia organizations and
private individuals, was unveiled 22nd of June, 1901.”

The honor of first starting the scheme is due to Rev. Canon
Bull of the Lundy’s Lane Historical Society. Itlanguished for
s>me time but was finally taken up by the Ontario Historical
Society, and the chief houor is due to Mrs. Thompson, the con-
vener of the committze, by whose energy and zeal it has been
cirried out so successfully in the midst of many difficulties,carrying
out the dving wishes of the late lamented Mrs. Curzon whose
writings first drew atteation to the deeds of Lazra Secord, Hun-
dreds of children contributed their mites, the idea being to have
it a tree will offering and not to ask for a goveinment grant.

“fn memory of Mary Earl, grand-daughter of Sir William



Johnson Bart, who died 1oth of April, 1820, aged 20 years, 6
months.”

This last is on the Street lot.

“Erected by the Presbyterians, of Drummondyville, to the
memory of Marion Watsoo, the beloved wife of Rev. Wm, Dick-
son, who died 24th of April, 1859, aged -32 years. ‘A woman
who feareth the Lord she shall be praised.” Prov. 31. 30.”

The first interment in this cemetery is supposed to have been
that recorded below.

“*In memory of John Burch Esq., who departed this life
March 7th, 1797, aged 33.”

The name Street is well represented here as well as in the
neighborhood as Street’s Mills, Street’s Island etc.  Samuel
Street was the wealthiest man of the district.
<  “Sacred to the- memory of Samuel Street, of the Niagara
Falls, Born at Farmington Coavecticut, March 14th, 1775. He
settled in this District A, D. 1795 and died August 21st, 1844."

The name of Thaokful, Nehemiah and Abizsail Stieet are
found, also Thomas Clatrk Street, M P, who died at Clark’, mills.

T Ihe husband of Laura Sccord, who was wounded at Queenston
Heights is thus recorded.

- “In memory of James Secord, Collector of Customs, who
departed this life 22nd February, 1841, aged 68.7

CHIPPAWA.

The graveyard round Trinity Church is evidently old, as
around the three sides may be seen the stumps of rows of im-
meunse trees which trom .their weather worn appearance must have
been cut down long ago. Frem the fact of this having been the
scene of a battle we might expect to find the graves of many
military men but evidently these bhad all been ‘““heaped and pent,
rider and horse in onered burial blent” for here they are not

stound. The names most frequently occurring are well knovn to
those who have studied the early history of this old settlement,

_Cummings, Clak, Street, Macklem. McMicking, Kirkpatrick.
Here are found names showing foreign origin as Rapalje, Hugoe,
Ives, Vinnidy, Bliling, Shoemacker, Sibbit, etc.

i Close to the church in an enclosure covered closely with vines
are two handsome headstones commemorating the first minister,
whose register of births, deaths and marriages from 1820 to 1837
has lately been found.

“Sacred to the memory of Rev. Wm. Leeming, late rector of



this parish. who was appointed a missionary to Canada by the

society for the propogation of the gospel in foreign parts in

Match 1820, born Feb. 25th, 1787, died June 1st, 1863. Thy
~=will be done.”

“Sacred to the memory of Margaret Hickson, for thirty years
and upwards the affectionate wife of Wm, Leeming, first minister
here, born October 21st, 1777, died April 6th, 1853.”

In a large square enclosure of stone and iron are two of the
old altar tombstones.

M “Sacred to the memory of Thomas Clark, a native of

Dumfries, Scotland, who died in 1837, aged 67, and for more
than twenty years was an independent member of the Legislative
Council of this province, having lived in this province trom its
earliest settlement, and by persevering industry and strict inte-
grity procured for him general respect, while his kind disposition
and becoming deportment endeared him to numerous friends, by
whom his death will be long and deeply lamented.  His sisters
in grateful recollection of their affectionate brother have erected
this tablet to his memory.”

That to his wite is in similar form with a short and simple

_inscription.

“Sacred to the memory of Mary Margaret Clark, wife of the
Honorable Thomas Clark, and daughter of Robert Kerr Esq. late
Surgeon of the militia department in this province, who died in

~1837, aged 435.”"

In another enclosure.

“In memory of Thomas Macklem, fifth son of james and
Lydia Macklem, born at Chippawa 1817, died at Magnolia, East
Florida, 1859.”

Oan the other side, ‘‘James Cummings eldest child o Thomas
C. and Caroline Macklem. Drowned in the Niagara river at
Clark Hill, and whose body unhappily was not recovered. His
mother thus denied the consolation of laying it near his father has
caused- this inscription to be placed here to commemorate his
birth 1852, and his melancholy death, May 6th, 1860.”

In another enclosure are inscriptions.

=~ “In memory of James Cummings, born 1789, died 1873, and
Sophia his wife, born 1800, died 1878, also Ann Macklem, his
sister, born 1800, died 1886,”

James Cummings was the son of Thomas Cummings,the first
settler at Chippawa, coming in 1784, being Town Clerk,
Justice of the Peace, performing marriages in that capacity. The
books kept from 1796 by him and his son James are models of
neatness and methodical habits.

-



Another large enclosure of stone and iron with many
tombstones.

*‘In memoriam Oliver T. Macklem, fourth son of James and
Lydia Macklem. On a square pedestal is a marble female figure
life size, ‘‘to the eldest daughter of James and Adelaide Macklem,
died at Toronto 1889, aged 25.”

One soldier’s grave was found.

“In memory of Adam Ormsbry Esq. late Major of the 3rd
Dragoon Guards, who died gth October, 1835.”

On old stones are inscriptions to J. Kirkpatrick, 1831, and
Jane Cockrott, his wife and a late one to Marv Howat Hurrell,
daughter ot John Kirkpatrick, also Mary Other McMicking, be-
loved wife of George McMicking.

As showing distant place of birth.

**Thomas Craine, born in Douglas, Isle of Mar, and Ludwig
Bliling and Frederick, wife of Ludwig Billing.”

PRESBYTERIAN GRAVEYARD CHIPPAWA.

-

Here the names are almost all either of Scottish or German
origin, the former predominating, as Meuzies, Meiklejohn, Mec-
"Kenzie, Dobbie, Fleming, Gowanlock, Aberdeen and Flett, Kister,
Lehrback, Oeppling, Lutes, Snider, Herber, and the places of
birth, Dumbarton, Stirling, Banff, Rentrew, South Carolina and
Alsace etc.

A granite monument is in memory of a valued physician and

dignitary of the church.

“In memory of Robert Aberdeen, M.R.C.S.E, born in
Bervie, Kincardineshire, Scctland, born 1808, died 1879.”

Here 1s the record of a railway tragedy.

“Elizabeth wife of Jonn Copfer, killed by accident at
Ashtabula, Ohio, Dec, 29th, 1876,”

And two from the German fatherland.

“In memory ot Nicholas Willick, died March 25th, 1894, aged
~8, a native of Upper Alsace, Germany.”

And on an iron cross.

“M. Herber Gestorben 7th January, 1862, 70’ jahr, and H.
Herber Gestorben, 5th October, 1869, 79 jahr,”

. “Sacied.to the memory of Thomas Flemmg, a native of .
. Lochwinnoch, Renfrewshire, Scotland, 1813—1861.”



In that to Jeanie Fleming, wite of Addison Waud is another
example that the name of the first minister of Niagara was kept
in memory

The name of Jason Mogge, son of Jason and Caroline Plato,
cecalls the name of the Plato graveyard near Fort Erie,
¢ One of the few verses in this graveyard is of a higher order
than the frequent doggerel,

‘“Now low in earth

That form of love decays unseen
Yet not forgot

Above in angel light arrayed
Beyond the stars

Some more exalted form *

-His spirit wears.”

THOROLD—DECEW’S.

Near this was the spot sought by Laura Secord in her memor-
able walk 23rd June, 1813. On a hillside is an old graveyard,
some of the dates going back to the time of the war.

“In memory of George Couke, who departed this life Dec.
4th, 1812, aged 55,”

His wite buried beside him must have survived him many
years, dying 1838, aged 86. We learn from other sources that
George Couke was a private in the 2nd Lincoln Militia.

Andrew Hansel, born 1747, die¢ 16th May, 1818, aged 7o,
and John Hansel May 29th, 181a.

George Hoover died 15th February 1827, aged go.

In an 1ron fence enclosure with a large Aberdeen granite
monument. ;

*‘In memory of Jonathan Hagar, Jied October 10th 1813, his
wife Azubah, died 1847, aged 78.” Also Mahitable, daughter of
Jonathan and Azubah Hagar.

Mary Seburn and Stephen Seburn died in 1828 and 1830
respectively. The name Swayze occurring in the first Parliament,
also the name given to a delicious apple of this peninsula
is here found.

“In memory of Hannebel, son of Malum and Mehitabel
Swayze.”

“Mary Swayze wife of Hiram Swayze, died 1818 aged 32.”

-, Is this an ancestor of one of our missionaries in China ?



“In memory of Thomas Goforth, died 1844, aged 88.”

It is remarkable how tew here give the place of birth but that
below shows pride of country though destitute or almost so of
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